CHAPTER 24

CRIMINAL LAW ASPECTS OF CAMPAIGN FINANCE
REGULATION!

Over the past thirty years, Congress has rewritten federal criminal law to elevate the goals
of deterrence and retribution over rehabilitation. In the 1960s and early 1970s, in areas ranging
from environmental to election law, Congress created regulatory agencies, authorized them to
adopt regulations, and gave them the power to civilly enforce these regulations. As Republicans
and Democrats vied with each other to appear tough on crime, lawmakers augmented the civil
sanctions with criminal penalties. It is in this atmosphere that lawyers must defend against
election crime cases and negotiate with prosecutors.

L. HISTORICAL BACKGROUND
A, Voting Offenses

Since Reconstruction, the federal criminal code has contained statutes designed to ensure
fair and free elections. Early statutes focused mainly on voting fraud. Between 1868 and 1870,
Congress passed the Enforcement Acts, providing criminal penalties for improper influence over

the voting process.”
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Over the following seventy years, however, Congress and the Courts eroded most of the
Enforcement Acts. This was a consequence of the broader debate about the proper reach of
federal law over state actions. Early in the twentieth century, courts restricted the jurisdictional
reach of federal election statutes. For example, in United States v. Gradwell,® the Supreme Court
held that the constitutional right to vote did not extend to state and local elections. In United
States v. Newbury,* the Court struck down the regulation of primary elections.

During the New Deal and thereafter, the Court substantially reversed course, and began to
expand the constitutional underpinning of the federal enforcement of election offenses. The
Newbury case, for example, was reversed in United States v. Classic.’ Gradwell was reversed by
Reynolds v. Sims,® where the Court used the Equal Protection Clause to extend the reach of
federal statutes to non-federal elections. Two provisions, now embodied in 18 U.S.C. §§ 241 and
242, survived the roller-coaster evolution of the Enforcement Acts and are still used to punish
intentional deprivation of rights guaranteed directly by the Constitution and federal law.

B. Campaign Finance Offenses

The first federal campaign financing statute was the Tillman Act of 1907, which prohibited
corporations from making contributions to federal candidates.” In 1925, the Federal Corrupt

Practices Act extended the prohibition against corporate contributions to include “anything of
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value” and made both the giving and the accepting of a corporate contribution a crime.®
Emergency legislation during World War II prohibited labor organizations from making
contributions or expenditures in connection with federal elections, a ban that was later made
permanent in the Labor Management Act of 1947.° In 1948, Congress prohibited government
contractors from contributing to federal campaigns.”® Between 1948 and 1972, the Supreme
Court defined the constitutional parameters of these union-related laws.!!

In the early 1970s, partly in response to Watergate, Congress addressed the influence of
money in federal election campaigns by enacting limits on campaign contributions.’? The
Supreme Court summarized that "[t]he purpose of the Federal Election Campaign Act was to
reduce political corruption by eliminating the purchase of influence by campaign contributors."*
FECA created the Federal Election Commission (“FEC”) and endowed it with administrative and
civil enforcement powers. As a tough measure against violators, FECA also set forth

misdemeanor criminal offenses as well as civil violations.
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At its inception, FECA was attacked as violating the First Amendment right to freedom of
speech. In Buckley v. Valeo," the Supreme Court upheld FECA’s provisions limiting
contributions to political campaigns, but struck down limits on expenditures as violating the First
Amendment’s Free Speech Clause.

C. The Past Thirty Years

In the 1970s and 1980s, attorneys mounted a number of legal challenges to the reach of
non-FECA felony statutes. The constitutionality of applying § 241 to local elections was
upheld. "

The Supreme Court ruled that the mail fraud statute'® repeatedly used to prosecute
bribery, extortion, and campaign offenses did not apply to schemes to defraud persons of the
intangible right to good government.'” Tn response to McNally, Congress passed 18 U.S.C. §
1346 to specifically extend the mail fraud statute to prohibit schemes to defraud persons of the
“honest services” of government. While the statute reached bribery and extortion schemes, it did

not reach schemes relating solely to the integrity of the election process.'®
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Since the passage of FECA, Congress has enhanced the Justice Department’s arsenal to
prosecute non-financial election offenses, such as voter registration fraud, multiple voting, vote
buying, and patronage improprieties. "’

Largely in response to the general toughening of criminal laws, the 1990s saw prosecutors
raise the stakes for election law violators. The Sentencing Reform Act of 1984, which became
effective for offenses committed on or after November 1, 1987, enhanced prosecutors’ abilities to
obtain prison sentences for almost all offenées, including election law offenses. During the Bush
Administration, under Attorney General Richard Thornburgh, the Justice Department adopted a
policy of charging defendants under the most serious statute available, rather than the most
specific statute applicable, for campaign finance violations. The Justice Department began relying
less on FECA, with its misdemeanor provisions, and more on the general false statement statute,”
the conspiracy s_tatute,21 and other felony statutes. As will be discussed later in this chapter, the
use of more general felony statutes to cover offenses specifically addressed by the misdemeanor
FECA provisions continues to be challenged in courts throughout the country.

In 1997 and 1998, congressional investigations of 1996 election improprieties received
widespread attention. Though Congress failed to pass proposed legislation such as the McCain-
Feingold bili, which sought to further restrict the role and influence of private donations in
election campaigns, thé outcry from the congressional hearings pressured the Justice Department

to devote more resources to prosecuting campaign fraud cases.

¥ See 42 U.S.C. §§ 1973i(c), 1973i(c), and 1973gg-10; 18 U.S.C. § 610.
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As the Twentieth Century comes to a close, there remains only a small body of opinions
on the criminal prosecution of campaign finance violations. The many cases arising out of the
1996 election cycle now making their way through the courts provide important opportunities for
defense counsel to test the aggressive manner in which prosecutors are applying felony statutes to
conduct that, just a few years ago, might have been treated as a misdemeanor or civil violation.

II. THE PROSECUTING AND INVESTIGATING AGENCIES
A, Federal Election Commission

The Federal Election Commission (“FEC”) is the independent regulatory agency
responsible for the administration and civil enforcement of FECA’s provisions. The FEC has
regulatory authority over federal elections for the House of Representatives, the Senate, the
Presidency, and Vice Presidency. The FEC was created as an independent federal agency and
currently has a legal staff of approximately one hundred responsible to a General Counsel
appointed by the six Commissioners. The Commissioners themselves are nominated by the
President and confirmed by the Senate, and no more than three may be from any political party.
The Commission’s even number, with four votes required to authorize any action or finding, is
unique among federal regulatory agencies. The FEC is primarily empowered to administer federal
campaign finance disclosure laws, and it has exclusive jurisdiction over civil enforcement.*
Candidate committees, party committees, and political action committees (“PACs”) are required
to file periodic reports that disclose the amount and sources of money they raise and spend. The
FEC reviews these reports to detect any financing irregularities, violations of its disclosure

provisions, or violations of contribution limits. If irregularities or violations are suspected by the

2 2US.C. § 437



FEC, or sworn complaints alleging such violations are received by the Commission from any
person, then the FEC may initiate a civil investigation or, if particularly serious, refer the matter to
the Department of Justice for possible criminal investigation.
Federal Prosecution of Election Offenses™ generally sets forth the Justice Department’s

view of which cases should be handled civilly, and which should be prosecuted criminally:

Most violations of the FECA and the public financing provisions of

Title 26 are handled civilly by the FEC. A campaign financing

violation is generally prosecuted criminally only if it was a willful

violation of a core prohibition of the FECA, involved a substantial

sum of money, and resulted in the reporting of false campaign
information to the FEC.**

The “core provisions” are: limitations on contributions from persons and groups; a bar on
contributions from corporations, unions, federal contractors, and foreign nationals; a bar on
disguised contributions; and a bar on avoidance of FECA’s disclosure requirements.”

A memorandum between the Justice Department and the FEC further recognizes that
many FECA violations that could be prosecuted as crimes should not be so prosecuted.”

As discussed below, it is critical that a criminal defense lawyer understand the FEC’s
powers, policies, and practices when trying to persuade a prosecutor to refer the matter to the

FEC instead of to initiate a criminal prosecution.

» U.S. Department of Justice, Public Integrity Section (6th ed. 1995).
24 Federal Prosecution of Election Offenses, at 93.
»  Id at96-97.

% Memorandum of Understanding, December 5, 1977, set forth in Federal Election
Campaign Financing Guide (CCN) 12042 (1977).



B. Department of Justice, Public Integrity Section

The Department of Justice prosecutes criminal violations of FECA.>’ Within the
Department, investigating agents may refer a case to the Election Crimes Branch of the Public
Integrity Section in Washington, D.C. or to the local United States Attorney’s Office. Preliminary
investigations are usually initiated by the United States Attorney’s Office or FBI office that
received the complaint. Consultation with the Public Integrity Section is required before a grand
jury or full field investigation can be initiated.?®

All indictments charging election fraud require prior consultation with the Public Integrity
Section. Consultation with the Public Integrity Section is “encouraged” before a United States
Attorney enters into a plea agreement. Public Integrity Section attorneys generally investigate
and prosecute cases only when the local United States Attorney has a potential conflict of interest
or the appearance of a conflict, or is unwilling to prosecute a case that the Public Integrity Section
determines to be warranted.”’ Section trial attorneys also tend to be more active in prosecutions
brought in the District of Columbia.

C. United States Attorney’s Offices

There are 94 United States Attorney Offices in the United States, one for each federal
judicial district. Typically, a United States Attorney will be chosen as follows: the senior senator

in the state of the same party as the President will forward a recommendation to the President.

27 2 U.S.C. § 437g(a)(5)(c).
2 Federal Prosecution of Election Offenses, at 57, 81.
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district is subject to negotiation between the White House and the senators in a given state.



After vetting the nominee, the Executive Branch will forward the nominee’s name to the
Chairman of the Senate Judiciary Committee for confirmation. The United States Attorney is the
chief federal law enforcement officer in that district. He or she has the power to hire Assistant
United States Attorneys to help supervise the office and serve as trial prosecutors.

The United States Attorney’s Office is the prosecutive office with primary authority to
prosecute federal crimes, including election crimes. But Justice Department policies sometimes
restrict the discretion of local United States Attorneys. Where the Department believes that an
area of the law is complicated or requires oversight to ensure uniform national treatment, a United
States Attorney may be barred from presenting a proposed indictment to a grand jury without
prior Department of Justice approval. For example, this is true with respect to tax and certain
environmental crimes.

In the election law area, mere consultation with Washington, not prior authorization, is
generally all that is required. On the other hand, because election law cases often raise issues that
test the political neutrality of the prosecutive decision, and because the Department of Justice has
an interest in carefully scrutinizing cases to ensure that local prosecutors charge individuals
according to uniform standards, the Department closely monitors election crime cases.
Particularly when seeking to preempt prejudicial pre-indictment publicity, or to ward off a
possible indictment, it is important for defense counsel to understand the relationship between the
field prosecutors and Washington. This will be discussed more fully in Section IV.A 2. dealing
with pre-indictment strategy.

D.  Campaign Finance Task Forces

Following congressional hearings and widespread media attention about the role of foreign

money and influence in the American political process, the Justice Department in 1997 established



the Campaign Finance Task Force to investigate and prosecute certain campaign finance cases. In
the view of some critics, the special status given to the Task Force and the widespread media
coverage of its work has on occasion led it to file more serious charges than either a United States
Attorney’s Office or Public Integrity Section line prosecutor normally would have filed. For
example, sometimes Task Force prosecutors have intentionally avoided filing charges under
FECA, even where a FECA provision was directly on point, in favor of filing felony sté.tutes. Any
time a special task force or special prosecutor is appointed, particularly if the appointment is
accompanied by an enhanced budget, counsel needs to be aware that normal DOJ policies and
practices may be disregarded.

E. Federal Bureau of Investigation

The Federal Bureau of Investigation is the only federal law enforcement agency with
jurisdiction to investigate election crimes. At the request of the Justice Department or United
States Attorney, or on its own initiative, the FBI may open a preliminary investigation without
consulting the Public Integrity Section. A preliminary investigation “should entail some or all of
the following™: (1) interview (and, if possible, taking statements) of complainants, victims,
immediately available witnesses, and (only if specifically requested by the Justice Department) of
subjects; (2) obtaining of pertinent physical evidence; and (3) “any other logical investigation to
round out the facts of the complaint.” The agents should determine what candidates and issues
would be affected by the alleged irregularities. The extent of the preliminary investigation will
relate to the Justice Department’s prosecutive policy: the preliminary investigation should be
most extensive for matters involving a pattern of conduct designed to affect the outcome of a
federal election; less extensive where the electoral abuse may have affected a federal contest but

was directed at state or local contests; and least extensive where the fraud cannot be shown to

10



have impacted on a federal contest. Further, the federal interest will be heightened if the pattern
of election abuse ties into a pattern of local corruption which state law enforcement agencies have
not addressed.®' The goal of the preliminary investigation is to determine whether a grand jury or
“full-field” investigation is warranted.”

A full-field investigation is essentially anything beyond a preliminary investigation, with
the goal of developing sufficient evidence to file criminal charges. Consultation with the Public
Integrity Section is required for all full-field investigations.* Following a preliminary
investigation, the FBI agent, sometimes working at the direction of the prosecutor, will begin to
subpoena documents, interview witnesses, examine public election records, and often begin
lobbying prosecutors to file charges in their cases.

F. Independent Counsels

Over the past few years, several election crime allegations have involved the Office of the
Independent Counsel. Widespread attention focused on President Clinton and Vice President
Gore’s 1996 fundraising activity, leading Republican legislators to call for the appointment of an
independent counsel. Furthermore, the Independent Counsel appointed to investigate former
Secretary of Agriculture Donald Espy focused on election crime allegations in some of his
investigations and prosecutions. As such, counsel practicing in this area may need to acquaint

themselves with the statute.

3 FBI Manual of Investigative Operations and Guidelines, § 56-9.2 (1998 ed.).
32 Federal Prosecution of Election Offenses, at 57, 81.

3 Id at 57, 81-82.
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The independent counsel statute applies to certain present and former high level executive
branch officials, presidential campaign committee officials, members of Congress, federal agency
officials, and to others whom the Attorney General determines the Department of Justice may
have a conflict of interest in prosecuting>* The Department of Justice conducts a preliminary
investigation to determine whether the evidence of criminal activity is sufficiently specific and
credible to warrant the appointment of an independent counsel.*® If the Attorney General
determines that further investigation is warranted (as set forth in the written or established policies
of the Department of Justice regarding the conduct of criminal investigations), then the Attorney

136

General applies to the court for the appointment of an independent counsel.™ The Attorney
General’s application must contain sufficient information to assist the court in defining the
independent counsel’s subject matter jurisdiction.’” The Attorney General’s determination to
apply for the appointment of an independent counsel is not reviewable.**

Section 593(b)(1) provides that upon receipt of an application, the court “shall appoint”
an independent counsel and “shall define” that independent counsel’s prosecutorial jurisdiction.
Such jurisdiction shall assure that the independent counsel has adequate authority to fully

investigate and prosecute the subject matter and “shall also include the authority to investigate

and prosecute Federal crimes, other than those classified as Class B or C misdemeanors or

3 28 U.S.C. § 591(b) and (c).
¥ Id. §§ 591 and 592.

36 Id. § 592(c).

3 Id. § 592(d).

38 Id. § 592(f); <f. id. § 592(g) (providing that Congress may request the Attorney General
to seek appointment of an independent counsel).
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infractions, that may arise out of the investigation or prosecution . . .”* If the independent
counsel discovers possible violations of criminal law not covered by his or her subject matter
jurisdiction, he or she may request that the Attorney General apply to the court to expand the
scope of jurisdiction,*

The independent counsel’s authority to investigate and prosecute is almost equal to the
authority of the Department of Justice to prosecute and investigate cases.*' Following
investigation, the independent counsel is required to file a final report with the court setting forth
fully and completely a description of the work of the independent counsel.* The court may
release to the Congress, the public, or any appropriate person such portions of the report as the
court considers appropriate.”® Section 595 provides for Congressional oversight of the
independent counsel and requires the independent counsel to cooperate with the exercise of such
oversight jurisdiction.

Congress requested that Attorney General Reno recommend an independent counsel to
investigate both Vice President Gore and President Clinton relating to alleged campaign fund
raising abuses during the 1996 election cycle. As of the time of this treatise, the Attorney General
has not yet decided whether to seek an independent counsel to investigate the President, and has
declined to seek one to investigate the Vice President. The independent counsel appointed to

investigate former Secretary of Agriculture Mike Espy brought prosecutions for illegal

3 Id. § 593(b)(3).
40 Id § 593(c).
4 Id. § 594(a).
2 Id § 594(h)(1).
» Id. § 594(h)(2).
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contributions to Espy’s brother’s congressional campaign, successfully prosecuting a contributor
and campaign manager but unsuccessfully prosecuting Henry Espy.

Any time a Cabinet member is a subject of an investigation, even if it relates to a campaign
for a congressional office prior to his or her appointment to the Cabinet, the possibility exists that
an independent counsel will be appointed. Thus, if a client had some involvement with the case,
counsel may be dealing with a prosecutor who operates with little respect for Department of
Justice policy and practice regarding whether and when to indict an alleged offender. Counsel
also risks the possibility that even if a case is not charged, otherwise confidential grand jury
proceedings, law enforcement interviews, and subpoenaed documents may be released to the
public by Congress.

G. Congressional Investigations

Any time that alleged crimes involve high-level public officials, one must consider the
possibility of a congressional investigation. In 1997, Senate and House Committees; under the
direction of Senator Fred Thompson (R-TN) and Congressman Dan Burton {R-IN) held extensive
hearings into alleged campaign finance violations. Additional investigation followed and reports
of the investigation were released in 1998. Other committees have focused on campaign issues as
well. For example, House and Senate committees investigating the transfer of technology to the
People’s Republic of China have raised the issue of whether large contributions from a satellite
company improperly influenced the White House to grant the company approval for satellite
launches in China.

The lesson is that, any time an opposing political party or the media see an opportunity to
expose and criticize a client’s campaign practices, counsel must consider the possibility of

congressional attention. There is a bright side, however. Although congressional investigations
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put your client in a more difficult situation because of the added public attention, such
investigations may also present an avenue for avoiding criminal charges.

m. KEY STATUTES

Federal prosecutors use a variety of federal and state statutes in charging election law
violations. These statutes range from misdemeanor violations of FECA to criminal RICO.
Indictments can charge violations of a single statute or of a combination of statutes. For example,
individuals are often charged with misdemeanor violations of FECA that are linked to felony
charges of making false statements.** Prosecutors may attempt to tie illegal campaign
contributions to allegations of bribery under state law, and then allege the state law bribery
charges as predicate acts for a federal criminal RICO prosecution.

As a general rule, election law violations are prosecuted under FECA statutes in Title .2 of
the United States Code (and the corresponding 11 C.F.R. regulations), under broader criminal
statutes found in Title 18, and under tax statutes in Title 26. This section identifies these relevant
statutes and regulations and discusses how prosecutors may link these various statutes in a federal
criminal prosecution.

A. Prosecutions Under FECA

FECA enumerates various limitations intended to: (1) disclose the source of campaign
contributions and expenditures by requiring campaigns to regularly submit reports listing all

contributions and expenditures; (2) limit the amount of campaign contributions by individuals and

44 18 U.S.C. § 1001,
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groups; and (3) prohibit contributions by certain entities such as corporations.** These statutory
provisions provide for civil sanctions, as well as misdemeanor criminal prosecutions.*

1. Section 441a

The FECA provision codified at 2 U.S.C. § 441a limits the amount of donations by an
individual, a multi-candidate committee, or any other political committee to federal election
candidates, national party committees, and other political committees. These contributions are
commonly known as “hard money” (although FECA does not expressly recognize hard money, it
is any money which falls within FECA’s restrictions, /.e., used by a candidate or a registered
political committee, or by others on their behalves, in a federal election).”’

Section 441a imposes the following limits on hard money contributions:

Individuals;

. $1,000 to a candidate or candidate's committee per election year;
. $20,000 to a national party committee per calendar year;

. $5,000 to any other political committee per calendar year; and

43 2U.S.C. §§ 431-455,
46 Title 2, § 437g provides:

(1)(A) Any person who knowingly and willfully commits a violation of any
provision of this Act which involves the making, receiving, or reporting of any
contribution or expenditure aggregating $2,000 or more during a calendar year
shall be fined, or imprisoned for not more than one year, or both. The amount of
this fine shall not exceed the greater of $25,000 or 300 percent of any contribution
or expenditure involved in such violation.

(B) In the case of a knowing and willful violation of § 441b(b)(3) of this title, the
penalties set forth in this subsection shall apply to a violation involving an amount
aggregating $250 or more during a calendar year. Such violation of § 441b(b)(3)
of this title may incorporate a violation of §§ 441c(b), 441£, or 441g of this title.
a7 Sometimes a donor will have no idea how the candidate intends to classify a donation.
Yet classification of the donation impacts directly on whether the donor has exceeded the
limitations of § 441a. In the context of a prosecution for allegedly exceeding contribution limits,
a donor who does not know that his or her money was characterized as hard money arguably does
not have the required knowing and willful state of mind for a criminal prosecution under FECA.
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. $25,000 total per calendar year.

Multi-candidate committee:*®

$5,000 to a candidate or candidate's committee per election year;,
$15,000 to a national party committee per calendar year;

$5,000 to any other political committee per calendar year; and
no overall limit per calendar year.

Other political committee:

$1,000 to a candidate or candidate's committee per election year,
$20,000 to a national party committee per calendar year,

$5,000 to any other political committee per calendar year; and
no overall limit per calendar year.

To criminally violate 2 U.S.C. § 441a, the accused must have known of the limitations set
forth in this law and must have knowingly and willfully exceeded those limits by at least $2,000.%
This standard of proof applies to all of the FECA laws relating to donors seeking to circumvent
contribution limitations.

Only those “hard money” contributions are subject to the limitations of § 441a.
Conversely, the definition of “soft money” contributions is that they are not limited by FECA.

Soft money falls generally into four categories:

(1) Party money consists of contributions by national parties. National parties may raise
money from individuals, corporations, and labor unions without regard to § 441a limits, so long as
these funds are deposited in separate accounts and are not used to advocate the election of

specific federal candidates. Difficulties arise when a national party holds a mixed fundraiser that

8 A multi-candidate committee is a political committee with more than 50 contributors that

has been registered for at least 6 months and, with the exception of state party committees, has
made contributions to 5 or more candidates for federal office. 11 C.F.R. § 100(e)(3).

® See United States v. Goland, 959 F.2d 1449 (9th Cir. 1992), cert. denied 507 U.S. 960
(1993).
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benefits both federal and state or local candidates. Funds earmarked for specific federal
candidates are classified as hard money and are subject to FECA’s reporting requirements.”’

(2) Certain activities by labor unions or corporations are considered soft money if
they are made for the following purposes: (a) establishing, administering or soliciting money for a
PAC; (b) holding non-partisan drives for voter registration and get-out-the-vote; or (c) making
internal communications with executives or members on any subject.

(3) Issue advocacy funds are spent for public policy communications that do not involve
advocacy on behalf of a candidate in an election. A common form of issue advocacy is media
advertisement. The key to maintaining a soft money classification for an advocacy advertisement
is not to urge the election or defeat of a specific candidate. While candidates’ positions on a
certain issue lawfully may be presented, one must be careful not to cross the fuzzy line drawn by
FECA regulations.

(4) Contributions to tax-exempt organizations set up by politicians and groups
espousing certain political or ideological positions. These public policy organizations undertake
issue advocacy and may often cross the soft money line to express advocacy, depending upon the
explicitness of their message to the public. Caution must be exercised by these groups to avoid

urging the election or defeat of a specific candidate.

50 These distinctions are difficult to keep track of and may lead to sanctions by the FEC

when hard and soft money are improperly mixed. The contributor, however, usually will not have
any knowledge as to whether part of his or her contribution was used as hard money. This lack of
awareness may create proof problems for a prosecutor seeking to charge a willful circumvention
of § 441a.
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2. Section 441b

Section § 441b prohibits state-chartered corporations, labor organizations, national banks
and federally chartered corporations from making any contribution in connection with any federal
election. As with other FECA regulations, the corporation or union must have acted knowingly
and willfully and must have contributed at least $2,000 for a criminal violation to exist.’! In
addition, national banks and federally-chartered corporations may not make any contributions or
expenditures in connection with a state or local election.”

Corporate and individual clients involved in election law prosecutions are often charged
under this section of FECA in combination with § 441f (which prohibits contributions in the name
of another, and is discussed below). If a corporation reimburses individual contributions to a
federal candidate, it violates § 441b by making a corporate contribution. It also violates § 441f,
which prohibits making a contribution in the name of another person.

3. Section 441c¢

Under § 441c, government contractors or those in the process of negotiating a
government contract to provide services or materials to a federal agency are prohibited from
making federal campaign donations. As with the other FECA criminal provisions, there is a

required finding of a specific intent to violate this statute. This statute explicitly excludes from its

ot See AFL-CIO v. FEC, 628 F.2d 97, 100 (D.C. Cir. 1980), cert. denied, 449 U.S. 982
(1980).
32 Corporations and unions may participate in the political process through the formation of
Political Action Committees (“PACs”). Corporate and union treasury funds may be used to
create and operate a PAC, which may legally raise voluntary contributions from corporate
employees or union members. PAC funds can also properly be used for numerous other activities,
such as publishing a statement of opinion in a corporate or union newspaper, supporting or
opposing ballot propositions or referenda, promoting issues (but not individuals) by nonprofit
corporations.
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prohibitions donations made from the personal assets of owners of the company.> Like unions
and other corporations, government contractors may establish PACs and make nonpartisan
expenditures.

4, Section 441e

Section 441e prohibits foreign nationals (individuals, corporations, associations,
partnerships, political parties, and governments) from making, either directly or indirectly through
another, a contribution in federal, state, or local elections. This law does not prohibit legal
resident aliens (“green-card holders™) from making contributions. What may constitute a “foreign
national” in the context of foreign-based multi-national entities with U.S. subsidiaries is a fact-
based question dependent on the structure, size, and financial organization of the parent

corporation and its affiliated entities.**

* 11CFR. § 1154,
> The threshold issue in this area is whether such entities may create a PAC like other U.S.
corporations. A PAC may not be established if: (1) the foreign parent corporation finances the
PAC’s establishment, administration or solicitation costs; or (2) individual foreign nationals
participate in the PAC’s operation, serve as its officers, help select operators of the PAC or make
decisions regarding PAC contributions. With regard to non-federal donations or expenditures, the
FEC has created another test. A domestic subsidiary of a foreign corporation or a domestic
company owned by foreign nationals may not finance or donate to a state or local election if: (1)
the activities were financed by the foreign parent or owner; or (2) individual foreign nationals are
involved “in any way” in the donation to the non-federal committee or candidate.

The FEC has actively pursued illegal donations from foreign nationals. For example, in
1994, it conducted two investigations in Hawaii which revealed that $312,000 had been donated
to state and local campaigns by mostly foreign-owned U.S. corporations. These corporations had
either used funds from the foreign owners or had allowed the foreign owners to make decisions
con}clzelglling the contributions. Criminal prosecutions in this area are likely to be actively pursued
in the future.
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s. Section 4411

As mentioned above, § 441f prohibits making any contribution in the name of another. It
bars an individual or corporation from reimbursing someone else for making a contribution.*

The majority of reported criminal prosecutions brought under FECA relate to violations of
2 U.S.C. § 441a (exceeding the monetary limits on donations from an individual or group) in
conjunction with 2 U.8.C. § 441f (contributions made through conduits). Section 441a and 441f
prosecutions are often linked for obvious reasons. Thus, it is not surprising that the bulk of the
civil regulatory enforcement actions brought against contributors by the FEC have involved the
use of conduits and schemes designed to hide or disguise contributions made in excess of the
monetary limits set forth in FECA. Similarly, criminal prosecutions in this context focus on these
types of circumvention schemes, which may involve federal contractors,*® corporations and
unions,”’” and foreign nationals.”®

Violations of any of the subsections of § 441 are punishable under FECA as misdemeanors
with a statute of limitations of three years.” When criminal FECA violations are not prosecuted
within three years, prosecutors routinely attempt to charge felony violations, which have longer

statute of limitations periods. These potential felonies are discussed below.®

- See United States v. Sun-Diamond Growers of California, 964 F, Supp. 486, 490 (D.D.C.
1997} (finding a corporation guilty of violating §§ 441b and 44 1f for making corporate
contributions through reimbursed donors).

5 2U.S.C. § 441c.

57 Id. § 441b.

. Id § 441e.

* Id § 455(a).

60 The statute of limitations on civil claims is five years. 28 U.S.C. § 2462; FEC v.
Williams, 104 F.3d 237, 240 (9th Cir. 1996). As discussed below, potential civil liability can be
(Continued...)
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B. Common Title 18 (Criminal Code) Prosecutions
1. False Statements

Felony charges under Title 18 can be brought alone or in conjunction with misdemeanor
violations of Title 2. Although a number of Title 18 violations conceivably could be employed,
the majority of the prosecutions allege violations of 18 U.S.C. § 1001 (false statements) and §
2(a) (aiding and abetting) or § 2(b) (causing an act to be done). Violations of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1001
and 2 have a five-year statute of limitations.®'

Title 18, United States Code, § 1001 provides;

Whoever . . . knowingly and willingly . . . makes any false, fictitious
or fraudulent statements or representations [to a U.S. governmental
agency] shall be fined not more than [$250,000] or imprisoned not
more than five years, or both.*

Section 2(b) provides:
Whoever willfully causes an act to be done which if directly

performed by him or another would be an offense against the
United States, is punishable as a principal.

The individual or corporate defendant who, for example, reimburses another’s campaign
contribution may be charged with having "caused" the treasurer of the campaign to submit false

campaign reports. Title 2 U.S.C. § 434 requires that each treasurer of a political committee file

(...Continued)
used as a basis for reaching either a civil settlement that would include either an agreement not to
file criminal charges, or the dismissal of any charges already filed.

ol 18 U.S.C. §3282.

62 The maximum imprisonment under § 1001 is five years per count of conviction. Though
the statute identifies the maximum fine as $10,000 per count, in 1987 Congress raised it to

$250,000 per count. 18 U.S.C. § 3571(b)(3).
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with the FEC periodic reports of campaign receipts and disbursements.” These reports must
include, inter alia, "the identification of each -- (A) person (other than a political committee) who
makes a contribution to the reporting committee during the reporting period" in aggregate value
of more than $200 within the calendar year, "together with the date and amount of any such
contribution."®* Thus, an indictment might charge that a person "willfully" caused a campaign
treasurer to submit reports to the FEC that cc;ntained "false, fictitious or fraudulent" statements
by virtue of the fact that the reports identified the "reimbursees," not the true contributors.®’

For example, the government recently has charged defendants with violating 18 U.S.C. §
1001 when they “knowingly and willfully caused various political committees to submit material
false statements to the FEC by concealing the identity of the true source of contributions from the
committees which relayed the false information to the FEC ”* An indictment might charge
separate counts of violating § 1001 for each report filed which contains misinformation regarding

the identity of a contributor.”’

6 2U.S.C. §434(a); 11 CF.R. §9006.1.
64 2 U.8.C. 434(b)(3)(A); 11 CF.R. § 102.9(a)(2).

6 These reimbursees are commonly referred to as “conduits.” This can create confusion,

since FECA regulations define “conduits” to be the reimbursers: conduits are persons who act as
an intermediary in forwarding an earmarked contribution.

66 United States v. Hsia, 24 F, Supp.2d 33 (D.D.C. 1998); see also United States v. Nichols,
No. CR 98-642-ABC (C.D. Cal. Dec. 7, 1998) (defendants indicted under § 1001 for reimbursing
contributions to federal candidates).

67 Id
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2. Conspiracy

The government also may allege a conspiracy count in an indictment, even if only one
person is charged. An indictment might charge an individual with conspiring with a reimbursed
contributor, or even with a campaign official or candidate. Title 18 U.S.C. § 371, provides:

If two or more persons conspire either to commit any offense
against the United States, or to defraud the United States, or any
agency thereof in any manner or for any purpose, and one or more
of such persons do any act to effect the object of the conspiracy,

each shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than five
years, or both.

Conspiracy charges allege either an agreement to “commit any offense against the United
States,” or alternatively, “to defraud the United States.” This distinction may be significant in
assessing the nature of your case and, in particular, the applicable statute of limitations and
requisite intent.

A charge of conspiracy to commit an offense against the United States is not entitled to a
longer statute of limitations than the charge of committing the offense itself ® Therefore, the
government is not able to extend the three year statute of limitations for a FECA violation by
charging a conspiracy to violate FECA. If, for example, the government charges a conspiracy to
commit a § 1001 false statement offense, it must establish that the making of a false statement was
an object of the conspiracy.”” Because the underlying substantive offense includes a heightened |

intent requirement, to prove conspiracy the government will have to prove the same intent:

o8 Bridges v. United States, 346 U.S. 209, 222-23 (1953) (holding that the limitations period
for conspiracy to violate § 1001 is identical to the limitations period for violating § 1001).

® See Twitchell v. United States, 313 F.2d 425, 428 (Sth Cir. 1963) (finding that to make a

charge of conspiracy to violate the Mann Act, the government must establish that interstate
transportation of women for the purpose of prostitution was the objective).
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[Clonspiracy to commit a particular substantive offense cannot
exist without at least the degree of criminal intent necessary for the
substantive offense itself.”

In addition, at least one unindicted co-conspirator must have acted with the same
heightened intent. Conspiracy, by definition, requires at least two participants. In order to
convict a defendant of conspiracy, the government must prove the guilt of a co-conspirator,
whether or not the co-conspirator has been charged. Logically, if there are only two participants
to a conspiracy, and if one of those participants lacks the necessary intent, then the other
participant cannot be convicted of conspiracy. For example, a drug dealer cannot conspire with
an undercover DEA agent, because the agent never intended to commit the crime. If one of the
two co-conspirators is acquitted, "no crime can have been committed."”'

Where the government elects to charge the conspiracy as one “to defraud the United
States, or any agency thereof,” the applicable mens rea and statute of limitations is a more open-
ended question. In Hammerschmidt v. United States,” the court held that a conspiracy to defraud
the United States includes a conspiracy to “interfere with or obstruct one of the lawful

government functions.” For example, in United States v. T rie,” the government charged Trie

o Ingram v. United States, 360 U.S. 672, 678 (1959) (footnote omitted).

n United States v. Pearson, 667 F.2d 12, 13 (5th Cir. 1982) (distinguishing conspiracy from
aiding and abetting by requiring co-conspirator's intent to violate the law as an element of the
crime),

7 265 U.S. 182 (1924).

B 23 F. Supp.2d 55 (D.D.C. 1998).
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with conspiring "to defraud the United States” by “impair[ing] and imped[ing] the lawful
functions of the FEC," which includes the function of receiving accurate disclosure reports.”
Depending upon exactly how an indictment is phrased, it may be that the five year statute
of limitations for federal felonies applies because no substantive offense (misdemeanor or felony)
need be alleged as part of a conspiracy to defraud an agency. Likewise, it is unclear to what
extent knowledge of the intricacies of election law and willfulness will be required to prove this
type of conspiracy. Counsel should argue that no justification exists for requiring a lesser level of
knowledge and willfulness in this context and that to do so would violate fundamental fairness.

3. Bribery

The government may also allege that an illegal campaign contribution was a bribe
payment, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 201. Section 201 provides:

(b) Whoever . . . corruptly gives . . . anything of value to any
public official . . . with intent . . . to influence any official act . . .
[s]hall be fined not more than 10,000 or imprisoned for not more
than two years, or both,

The bribery laws apply to the making of campaign contributions in exchange for an
explicit promise of some official action in return. "Under the bribery statutes the government

must prove a quid pro quo, that is, that the official took money in return for an exercise of his

n7s

official power."” McCormick involved extortion charges under the Hobbs Act,” for which the

Supreme Court held that a quid pro quo was an essential element for conviction against a

i Id. at 57-58; see also United States v. Hsia, supra n.66, 24 F. Supp.2d at 36 (charging
Hsia with conspiring to impede the FEC).

» United States v. Tomblin, 46 F.3d 1369, 1379 (5th Cir. 1995) (citing McCormick v.
United States, 500 U.S. 257, 269-73 (1991)).

7 18 U.S.C. § 951.
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politician who received money, arguably as campaign contributions, from constituents interested
in pending legislation, 7omblin, a bribery case, extended this requirement to the donor:

In order to convict a briber, the government must prove that the
accused intended to bribe the official. Intending to make a
campaign contribution does not constitute bribery even though
many contributors hope that the official will act favorably because
of their contributions. See United States v. Allen, 10 F.3d 405, 411
(7th Cir. 1993) ("[A]ccepting a campaign contribution does not
equal taking a bribe unless the payment is made in exchange for an
explicit promise to perform or not perform an official act. Vague
expectations of some future benefit should not be sufficient to make
a payment a bribe.").”’

Arguably, the “public official” requirement suggests that a campaign contribution to a candidate
who is not currently an officer-holder, even if made as part of a quid pro quo, is not a bribe.
Another variation on the bribery charge can rely upon 18 U.S.C. § 1952, commonly
referred to as the Travel Act. Under § 1952, it is unlawful to travel in interstate or foreign
commerce or to use any facility of interstate or foreign commerce, including the mail, for the
purpose of, inter alia, promoting, managing establishing, carrying on, or facilitating of any
unlawful activity, “Unlawful activity” includes “bribery . . . in violation of the laws of the State in
which committed or of the United States.””®
Because these statutes require the government to prove more elements than many of the

other statutes discussed have, the government charges them less frequently in the election law

context. However, counsel should be prepared to combat them should they be charged.

n Tomblin, 46 F.3d at 1379.
B 18 U.S.C. § 1952,
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4, RICO

This chapter will not attempt to summarize ail of the complex and interconnected
provisions of the Racketeering Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act ("RICO").” Itis,
however, important to recognize that some election law cases are being brought under this far-
reaching and highly punitive criminal statute. These prosecutions tend to be filed under § 1962(c)
which prohibits "any person employed by or associated with any enterprise engaged in, or the
activities of which affect, interstate or foreign commerce, to conduct or participate, directly or
indirectly, in the conduct of such enterprise's affairs through a pattern of racketeering activity or
collection of unlawful debt."*® Racketeering activity is defined as any act or threat involving
specifically enumerated crimes including — most significantly in the context of election law
violations — bribery that is chargeable under state law.*' Misdemeanor FECA violations cannot be

used as predicate acts to trigger a violation of RICO. The "pattern” is established by proving at
J

least predicate acts of two "racketeering activit[ies]."®
p g

Depending on the law of the particular state, the government might be able to successfully
allege a RICO count. For example, under California law, a contributor who simply intends to
obtain any type of benefit for a campaign contribution has arguably violated the California bribery

statutes. California Penal Code Section 165 provides, in relevant part:

» Id. §§ 1961-1963.

80 Id. § 1962(c). Subsection (a) of § 1962 criminalizes the use of income derived from a

pattern of racketeering to acquire or obtain control over an enterprise. Subsection (b) prohibits
acquiring or maintaining an interest in or control over an enterprise through a pattern of
racketeering activity. Subsection (d) proscribes conspiring to violate subsections (a), (b), or (c).
8 Id § 1961(1).

82 Id. § 1961(5).
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Every person who gives or offers a bribe to any member of any
common council, board of supervisors, or board of trustees of any
county, city and county, city, or public corporation, with intent to
corruptly influence such member in his action on any matter or
subject pending before, or which is afterward to be considered by,
the body of which he is a member . . . is punishable by
imprisonment in the state prison for two, three or four years.”

Thus, unlike federal bribery statutes that, as discussed above, require a showing of some form of
quid pro quo, under California law, no such showing is necessary.**

5. Mail and Wire Fraud

Title 18 U.S.C. § 1341 prohibits the use of the United States mails, or a private or
commercial interstate carrier, to promote or further a “scheme or artifice to defraud.”® Section
1343 prohibits the same activity “by means of wire, radio, or television communication.” The
Supreme Court in McNally v. United States,* limited the application of § 1341 to schemes to

deprive persons of tangible property rights.*” In response, Congress enacted § 1346, which

. Under state laws, the statute of limitations may also vary. For example, under California

law, the statute of limitations for bringing a bribery charge is three years. California Penal Code
§ 801. However, this statute of limitations is tolled until discovery of the offense if the basis of
the offense is misconduct in office by a public official. California Penal Code § 803.

8 United States v. Jackson, 72 F.3d 1370, 1376 (9th Cir. 1995) (racketeering charges
predicated on a violation of the California Penal Code bribery statute do not require a showing of
an explicit quid pro quo).

85 18 U.S.C. § 1341 provides, in relevant part:
Whoever, having devised or intending to devise any scheme or artifice to
defraud, . . . places in any post office or authorized depository for mail matter . . .
or causes to be deposited any matter or thing whatever to be sent or delivered by
any private or commercial interstate carrier, or takes or receives therefrom, shall
be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than five years, or both.
86 483 U.S. 350 (1987).

8 Id. at 360.
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expanded the definition of “scheme or artifice to defraud” under § 1341 to include “a scheme or
artifice to deprive another of the intangible right of honest services.”**

In applying § 1346, courts have required that the government show some form of quid pro
quo. “The cases in which a deprivation of an official’s honest services is found typically involve
either bribery of the official or her failure to disclose a conflict of interest, resulting in personal

% Where the actions of the defendant do not result in any change in the decisions or actions

gain
of a public official, a mail fraud charge fails.*® Thus, in a case involving violations of FECA

without any additional bribery allegations, the government will not charge mail fraud.

6. Voting Offenses

Title 18 also encompasses a wide array of criminal violations involving voters and voting.
These sections include:

a. Sections 241 And 242 - Deprivation Of Constitutional
Rights

Section 241 prohibits, in relevant part, two or more persons from conspiring to “injure,
oppress, threaten, or intimidate any person in any state, territory or district in the free exercise or
enjoyment of any right or privilege secured by the Constitution or laws of the United States, or

because of his having so exercised the same . . .” Persons convicted under § 241 can be fined

and/or imprisoned for up to ten years.

¥ 18 U.S.C. § 1346.
¥ United States v. Sawyer, 85 F.3d 713, 724 (1st Cir. 1996).
%0 See, e.g., United States v. Mangiardi, 962 F. Supp. 49, 51 (M.D. Pa. 1997) (where

indictment did not allege the bribery of, attempted bribery of, or personal profit by a public
official, no mail fraud can be charged).
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Prosecutions under § 241 are predicated on a theory of interference with the
constitutionally guaranteed right to vote. Section 241 violations encompass a wide array of
election fraud.”’

Under § 242, it is unlawful for anyone acting under color of law, statute, ordinance,
regulation, or custom willfully to deprive a person of any right, privilege, or immunity secured or
protected by the Constitution or law of the United States. Violations are misdemeanors, not
felonies, unless bodily injury occurs.”? Although a conspiracy need not be shown, the defendant
must have illegally acted under color of law or in concert with a state agent in committing the
offense.”

h. Section 594 - Voter Intimidation

Section 594 of Title 18 prohibits intimidating, threatening, or coercing a voter or
attempting to do so, for the purpose of “interfering with the right of [the voter] to vote or to vote
as he may choose, or of causing [the voter] such other person to vote for, or not to vote for,” any

federal candidate. Violations of § 594 are misdemeanors.**

o1 See, e.g., United States v. Saylor, 322 U.S. 385, 389 (1944) (conspiracy to stuff ballot
box with forged ballots);, Crolich v. United States, 196 F.2d 879, 880-881 (5th Cir.), cert. denied,
344 U.S. 830 (1952) (conspiracy to impersonate qualified voters); United States v. Powell, 81 F.
Supp. 288, 290 (E.D. Mo. 1948) (conspiracy to alter legal ballots); Ryan v. United States, 99
F.2d 864, 866 (8th Cir. 1938), cert. denied, 306 U.S. 635 (1939) (conspiracy to fail to count
votes and to alter votes counted); United States v. Classic, 313 U.S. 299 (1941) (conspiracy to
prevent the official count of ballots in primary election). Fraudulent registration of and voting by
non-citizens are punishable under 42 U.S.C. § 1973gg and carry a possible sentence of up to five
years and a fine. Conspiracies to solicit aliens to register or vote in violation of a state citizenship
requirement are prohibited by 42 U.S.C. § 1973i(c).

52 18 U.S.C. § 242.

. United States v. Price, 383 U.S. 787, 794 (1966).

o4 Under §§ 608(b), 609 and 610 of Title 18, it is unlawful to give false information
regarding the eligibility of any person to vote under the Uniformed and Overseas Citizens

Absentee Voting Act (§ 108(b)); for an officer of the armed forces to use military authority to
(Continued...)
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C. Prosecutions Under Other Federal Statutes
1. Tax Fraud

A contributor who reports straw donor contributions as some form of deduction on
personal or corporate federal tax returns runs the risk of a prosecution for tax fraud. Title 26,
U.S.C. §§ 7201, 7202, and 7206 punish attempts to evade taxes, willful failures to pay taxes, and
willful false statements on a tax document signed under penalty of perjury.

The classic instance of this conduct occurs when a corporation uses corporate funds to
reimburse employees for making campaign contributions. The company may classify these
payments as employee bonuses or may encourage the employee to collect the reimbursement by
padding an expense report. A company may also hide illegal contributions in business records by
calling them payments for equipment or services rendered by a subsidiary corporation or bogus
vendor. If these false costs are later claimed as deductions, there may be tax consequences.

An added benefit for the government in charging a tax fraud count is the extended statute
of limitations of six years.”> The penalties for tax violations are fines up to $100,000 ($500,000
for a corporation) and three years imprisonment for false statements,”® and up to five years

imprisonment for tax evasion.”’

(...Continued)
influence the vote of a member of the armed forces (§ 609); and to intimidate, threaten, command,
or coerce, or attempt to do so, any employee of the federal government (§ 610). Violations of
§§ 608 and 609 carry a potential penalty of five years’ imprisonment, plus fine. The punishment
for a violation of § 610 is up to three years imprisonment, a fine, or both.
% 26 U.S.C. § 6531.
% Id. § 7206.

57 Id § 7201.
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2. Money Laundering

Because of the stiff sentences for money laundering,”® prosecutors increasingly charge
violations of the statute in federal white collar cases. Charging money laundering crimes in
campaign contribution cases is an aggressive stretch of the money laundering statutes. However,
in reviewing the worst-case scenario with a client, counsel should be prepared to discuss money
laundering if the facts can be stretched to cover it.

3. Foreign Agents Registration Act (“FARA”), And
Congressional And Executive Gift Rules

Elsewhere in this Guide the reader will find detailed descriptions of these laws and
regulations, and their potential criminal aspects. For information on possible criminal exposure
under the Lobbying Disclosure Act of 1995, as amended, and the Congressional and Executive
Branch Gift Rules, see Chapter 18, “Constitutional Issues And Litigation: Issues Affecting
Enforcement And Compliance With The Lobbying Disclosure Act And Gift Rules.” For a
discussion of FARA, see Chapter 26, “The Foreign Agents Registration Act And Its Relationship
To The Lobbying Disclosure Act of 1995, As Amended.”

1Vv. STRATEGY
A. Pre-Indictment Phase

Lawyers who do not specialize in white collar criminal defense work often fail to
understand the importance of engaging the government in a dialogue before charges are filed.
Particularly in an election crimes case, the pre-indictment phase is critical: The prosecutor has not
yet decided: whether to bring criminal charges; whether to charge a company instead of an

individual; whether to charge a felony or misdemeanor; or, if charges are filed, how many persons

o 18 U.S.C. § 1956.
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to charge. Nor has the prosecutor decided critical matters which may affect trial strategy, such as
whether to arrest or summons a defendant, how much bail to recommend, or in which venue to
bring charges. Defense counsel can influence these decisions. The strategy should generally be to
- conduct an internal investigation in order to learn the facts and issues. Counsel should then
engage the prosecution in a meaningful dialogue.

1. Internal Investigations

During the pre-indictment stage of a case, defense counsel should conduct a shadow
investigation to learn what evidence the government is obtaining, to learn what type of exposure a
client faces, and to ensure that all proper pre-indictment legal issues are raised. Entire treatises
have been written solely on how to conduct an internal investigation. This chapter will focus only
on internal investigation techniques and strategies unique to an election crimes case.

Election crime investigations often begin when a political adversary tries to stir up trouble.
The adversary’s motive may be to gain political advantage in an upcoming election. If counsel
can develop convincing evidence that a critical government witness has a credibility problem
based on motive and bias, a prosecutor will be less likely to indict.

Prosecutors do not like to be used (or be viewed as being used) as political tools, The
Department of Justice does not like to interfere in elections: “Thus, most, if not all investigation
of an alleged election crime must await the end of the election to which the allegation relates.”

This policy may be of benefit if the client is a candidate or campaign official. But this policy does

not apply strictly to filing charges against a political supporter of a candidate.

o Federal Prosecution of Election Offenses, at 61 (emphasis in original).
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In conducting an internal investigation, counsel must balance the desire to learn as much
as possible about the conduct being investigated and the strength of the government’s case against
the goal of not doing anything to leak an investigation to the public, especially prior to an
election, or to strengthen the government’s case.

Counsel’s first step in gathering relevant evidence may be to search FEC files. For a small
fee, the FEC will research and mail campaign disclosure and other relevant records. Through the
FEC website, www. fec.gov, one can quickly see the latest FEC matters under review (“MURs”),
Political Action Committee {“PAC”) summaries, and other public records.

The second step may be to decide which witnesses to interview and what records to
gather. Counsel should evaluate whether a potential witness can be interviewed under the
protection of an attorney-client privilege (e.g., company counsel’s interview of an employee),
whether the witness has counsel who must first be contacted, what advisories should be given to
the witness, who should be present during the interview, who should take notes during the

“interview, and whether conducting the interview will lead to disclosure of information to the
prosecutor. Debriefing witnesses after they have been interviewed by the government, or after
they have testified in the grand jury, often is the best way for counsel to learn about the
government’s case.

A wide range of other techniques lawfully can be employed to gather information. Careful
thought and experience are needed to ensure that internal investigations are done in a way that
maximizes the use of the attorney-client privilege and gains the most information possible, while
not taking mis-steps that can unnecessarily disclose work product, lead the prosecutor to valuable

evidence, or unnecessarily anger the prosecutor.
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Another consideration is whether to take an aggressive stance by politicizing the matter.
FECA provides an elaborate process for investigating reports of campaign contribution violations.
Such violations can be reported by an individual in a sworn letter of complaint to the FEC.
Although the proceedings after the letter is received by the FEC are confidential, the fact of the
citizen complaint and the allegations of the complaint can be publicized prior to formal filing. If
the FEC fails to act, an individual can bring suit against the FEC in federal court.'”® This attack
approach may be appropriate in certain cases, such as matters arising in already highly politicized
cases or instances where the individual prosecutor or particular office is politically vulnerable.

2. Pre-Indictment Dialogue

During the course of a pre-indictment investigation it is almost always in the client’s
interest to open a dialogue with the prosecutor. Along with reducing the risk of search warrants,
arrests and other obtrusive investigative techniques, a dialogue will open up the channel for
discussing how to resolve a case before a prosecutor commits to a course of action,

The first goal is to avoid criminal charges altogether. Prior to indictment, defense counsel
frequently convince prosecutors to grant immunity, not to file charges, or at least not to file
certain charges. Counsel frequently persuade prosecutors to exercise leniency. Once a case is
filed, however, it is rare that prosecutors are convinced that they mischarged or overcharged a
case.

Opening a dialogue is not always easy. Novice prosecutors in particular tend to be more
tight-lipped, hard-nosed and unwilling to share theories of the case or evidence. A hard-nosed

prosecutor more interested in surprising the defense is more likely to be at the receiving end of a

0 FECv. Akins, 524 U.S. 11, 118 8. Ct. 1777, 1783-87 (1998) (holding that voters
had standing to challenge a decision by the FEC).
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surprise. Experienced prosecutors generally do not take such a hard-nosed approach, and instead
recognize that usually it is in both sides’ interest to have an open discussion of the case. A
prosecutor who recognizes that his or her job is to see that justice is done is more interested in
giving a target’s counsel a fair opportunity to present the client’s position. This allows the
prosecutor to make an appropriate prosecutive decision,

In establishing a dialogue, it is critical that defense counsel always act in good faith. A

. prosecutor will respect a defense lawyer’s decision not to reveal certain arguments. But the same

prosecutor may close off dialogue if he or she receives misrepresentations from counsel.

Generally, in addition to an ongoing dialogue, counsel should request a pre-indictment
conference with the prosecutor. If, following such a conference, the prosecutor decides to indict,
counsel should consider seeking review from the prosecutor’s supervisor. In doing so, counsel
should advise the prosecutor that counsel intends to seek this review, and encourage the
prosecutor to participate. That way counsel is less likely to offend the prosecutor. If counsel
does not succeed in persuading the local prosecutor and supervisor not to indict, counsel should
consider seeking review at the Justice Department in Washington, D.C. Even though the United
States Attorney may indict a case without Justice Department approval, the United States
Attorney often will give great weight to the Justice Department’s view of a case.

3. Criminal vs, Civil

All criminal provisions of FECA have civil counterparts. Identical conduct is sometimes
charged criminally, sometimes civilly. The Public Integrity Section has openly stated its intent
generally to defer to civil enforcement: “Most FECA violations are appropriately addressed
through noncriminal sanctions, and it is the customary practice, pursuant to the Memorandum of

Understanding . . . for the Department to refer most matters indicating possible FECA violations
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to the FEC.”'"' To convince a prosecutor not to bring criminal charges, counsel needs to
understand what factors officially and unofficially guide prosecutive decisions.

a. Memorandum Of Understanding

The Department of Justice’s election law enforcement activities are guided in part by a
Memorandum of Understanding entered into between the Department and the FEC.'"” Of
particular importance is the MOU’s recognition that many FECA violations that could be
prosecuted as crimes should not be so prosecuted:

The FEC and the Department [of Justice] mutually recognize that
all violations of the Federal Election Campaign Act and the anti-
fraud provisions of Chapters 95 and 96 of the Internal Revenue
Code, even those committed knowingly and willfully, may not be
proper subjects for prosecution as crimes under 2 U.S.C. §
437g(d), 26 U.S.C. § 9012 or 26 U.S.C. § 9042. For the most
beneficial and effective enforcement of the Federal Election
Campaign Act and the anti-fraud provisions of Chapters 95 and 96
of the Internal Revenue Code, those knowing and willful violations
which are significant and substantial and which may be described as
aggravated in the intent in which they were committed, or in the
monetary amount involved, should be referred by the Commission
to the Department for criminal prosecutive review. With this
framework, numerous factors will frequently affect the
determination of referrals, including the repetitive nature of the
acts, the existence of a practice or pattern, prior notice, and the
extent of the conduct in terms of geographic area, persons, and
monetary amounts among other proper considerations,

In short, the MOU generally tells prosecutors to consider the egregiousness of the
conduct. As set forth below, the Public Integrity Section spells out this policy in more detail in

Federal Prosecution of Election Offenses.

' Federal Prosecution of Election Offenses, at 114,

102 Memorandum of Understanding, December 5, 1977, Federal Election Campaign
Financing Guide (CCH) 1 2042 (1977) (“MOU”).
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b. Factors
i Seriousness

The Public Integrity Section states the two main factors in determining whether a case
should be prosecuted criminally is the dollar amount involved in the illegal activity, and the level
of criminal intent it reflects.”” The Public Integrity Section states that the following guidelines
are “useful” in considering matters on a case-by-case basis: (1) did a violation of a core FECA
provision “substantially exceed” $2,000 and involve evidence of criminal intent; (2) absent special
circumstances, violations involving less than $10,000 should be charged as FECA misdemeanors;
(3) amounts over $10,000 “should be considered” for felony prosecution under 18 U.S.C. §§ 371
and 1001,'™

As a practical matter, prosecutors consider several other factors (or “subfactors”) in
judging the seriousness of the alleged conduct. These include: (a) whether this is the first
election in which the alleged offender has participated in fund raising activities; (b) whether in
prior elections the alleged offender made illegal contributions; (¢) how much money was involved,
(d) how many persons participated in the alleged scheme; and (e} how much of the
reimbursements were directed by the alleged offender.

Because of the uneven pattern of charging decisions, counsel should be able to find
comparable cases which were pursued civilly rather than criminally. Ensure that the FEC library
of MURS has been carefully reviewed. These are not computerized, so it is helpful to consult

persons with FEC expertise. Recently, for example, in prosecuting corporations contributing to

103 Federal Prosecution of Election Offenses, at 114.

104 Id at 115.
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Congressman Jay Kim (R-CA), the government brought criminal charges based on less than
$5,000 in reimbursed contributions. Criminal prosecutions involving $25,000-$50,000 in conduit
contributions have become increasingly more common. Yet, for example, in a case involving
substantially higher conduit contributions, civil rather than criminal charges were filed in 1997
against Thomas Kramer. There, a civil conciliation agreement with the FEC shows that Kramer
made illegal contributions of over $400,000 through 17 separate entities during the 1994
elections.'”

Consider a second example involving Prudential Securities, Inc.'® Between 1986 and
1990, executives at Prudential solicited approximately $185,000 in contributions for various
candidates from its employees, disguising the reimbursements as year-end bonuses. According to
the allegations, employees were threatened with termination if they did not contribute. Prudential
executives also raised at least $65,000 from other sources, including various companies with
which it did business. The FEC contended that Prudential "knowingly and willfully" violated
FECA. The agency entered into a conciliation agreement with the company that resulted in a civil
penalty. No action was taken against the responsible individuals.

If this is the first election where a client made conduit contributions, counsel should point
the prosecutor to cases where criminal charges were not filed even though the offender had been
making conduit contributions for years. For example, in New Enterprise Stone and Lime

Company, et al.,'”’ company executives made at least $69,522 in disguised corporate

15 Thomas Kramer, MUR No. 4398 (1997).
% MUR No. 3540 (1994).
7 MUR No. 3508 (1995).
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contributions to Rep. Bud Schuster, who was the second-ranking of twenty-one Republicans on
the House Public Works & Transportation Committee, and the ranking member of the Surface
Transportation Subcommittee. A conciliation agreement based on reimbursed contributions over
an eleven year period resulted in civil penalties of $150,000 against the company and $7,500
against the company treasurer.

Similarly, in Seminole Tribe of Florida,'® an Indian tribe used $119,000 of private funds
between 1979 and 1982 to reimburse thirty-five individuals who contributed to federal candidates
and committees in their own names. Initially, the tribe attempted to conceal the magnitude of its
reimbursement scheme from the FEC, admitting to only $35,800 in reimbursements. Despite the
magnitude of the reimbursements and the number of individuals involved, the FEC reached a
conciliation agreement with the tribe that resulted in a $32,000 civil penalty. No action was taken
against the responsible individuals.

If the case involved only one candidate, counsel can find cases which involved multiple

19 If the dollar amount of reimbursement is

candidates, yet did not result in criminal prosecution.
large but the reimbursements were made all on the same day, counsel may wish to emphasize the
lack of pattern and duration as being more important than the dollar amount. If a member of the
other political party was not prosecuted for similar conduct, point this out.

Focus the prosecutor’s attention not upon whether the case can be brought criminally, but

whether a criminal charge is the only appropriate resoltution of the matter. If other prosecutors

%8 MUR Nos. 2465, 1616, and 1557 (1990).
109 See, e.g., General Cigar Co., Inc. and Austin T. McNamara, MUR No. 4286 (1997)

(conciliation agreement based on $11,000 in reimbursed contrtbutions resulted in civil fine of
$80,000).
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have been satisfied in similar cases with a civil resolution, the prosecutor should be told that. The
prosecutor should be convinced to gtve the alleged offender the benefit of the doubt. This is
particularly true where the facts support other reasons to decline prosecution, such as lack of fair
notice.

Unfortunately, field prosecutors often give too little weight to the relative seriousness of
the case. Often the FBI agent walks in with a new case, and many field prosecutors simply
assume it must be worthy of criminal prosecution, even though the same case would be brought
civilly if referred to the FEC instead of the FBI. Counsel must focus the field prosecutor on the
need to treat cases uniformly, regardless of how they originate. Counsel should persuade the field
prosecutor to rise above local, parochial interests to conform with how the government as a
whole, not just his or her office, generally handles such a case.

ii. Fair Notice

“Prior notice” is specifically mentioned in the MOU as a factor in determining whether to
charge a case criminally. Particularly because many of FECA’s regulations are designed for
campaign professionals, are complex, and are subject to varying interpretations, it may be unfair
to use criminal sanctions to enforce these regulations against laymen. This argument finds
support in conduit cases where an offender had prior notice, or involving political professionals
where the government was satisfied with a civil resolution.'"’

iit. Motive
Motive is a critical factor. Some offenses are committed for less acceptable reasons than

others. If an offender reimburses contributions because in good conscience he simply did not

0 See e.g., MUR 4398, infra.
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want to ask less wealthy employees to part with their hard-earned money, his motive is not as evil
as that of a person who makes illegal contributions in exchange for a vote to help his or her
business.

The case of Conley Wolfswinkel''! demonstrates the importance of motive. Wolfswinkel,
a developer in Arizona, funneled $27,000 into the campaign of Rep. Jay Rhodes through
contributions made in the names of nineteen different people. Despite the reimbursement scheme,
Arizona U.S. Attorney Steven McNamee decided that the case was not appropriate for criminal
prosecution. According to news reports, McNamee stated that criminal prosecution usually is
undertaken only when it can be demonstrated that the improper donations were made in an effort
to influence the candidate, and that there was no such intent in this instance. After McNamee
referred the case to the FEC, the agency found reason to believe that Wolfswinkel had violated
the law. Nevertheless, the agency decided not to pursue the matter. Wolfswinkel was not
assessed any civil penalty.

Many of the criminal cases charging campaign finance violations began as investigations
into suspected bribery. But bribery cases are hard to prove. Recognizing this, prosecutors often
extract guilty pleas to campaign finance violations from defendants who fear being charged with
bribery.

If a case involves no hint of bribery whatsoever, defense counsel should stress this.
Defense counsel should seek to demonstrate that his or her client stood to gain nothing from the

candidate’s election. This may help distinguish the case from other cases in which criminal

' MUR No. 2602 (1994).
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charges were brought, for example, cases in which a contributor was seeking a government
contract. A benign motive weighs in favor of a civil, rather than a criminal disposition.

iv. Role In The Offense

Role in the offense is an important factor in determining whether it is worthwhile for the
government to devote resources to a case. The Public Integrity Section states that mere conduits
should not be prosecuted criminally.'"> Even those contributing the funds may not deserve
criminal prosecution if they were not the orchestrators or instigators of the scheme. Often the
candidate, not the contributor, instigates the unlawful scheme. If defense counsel is representing
the contributor, counse! may wish to look for evidence which demonstrates that the candidate, not
the contributor, is the real culprit. Conversely, counsel representing the candidate should be wary
of the contributor trying to shift the blame. The Sentencing Guidelines emphasize the importance
of role in the offense. Because prosecutors generally look to prosecute the most culpable
offender, defense counsel must address this factor in preindictment presentations.

V. Cooperation And Contribution

Prosecutors usually reward individuals who accept responsibility for their own conduct
and who offer to assist the government in investigating others. Prosecutors need evidence to
build cases. This gives leverage to a defense lawyer whose client can provide testimony against
another. Counse] should be careful not to lose that leverage by cooperating without first getting
an assurance — confirmed by a court order or at least by a written agreement — of immunity,
reduced charges, a reduced sentence, or whatever leniency can be obtained. That is not to say

that a confession, or an offer to be an informant, is in a client’s best interest. Each case must

12 Federal Prosecution of Election Offenses, at 117.
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accounf for the client’s desires and other factors that influence the question of whether and how
to cooperate.

In addition to the Justice Department, Congress has the power to grant use immunity.'*
Particularly in a highly publicized case, prosecutors may be slow to grant immunity to witnesses
because the prosecutors fear that they later will be criticized for not prosecuting someone,
Congressional hearings, however, generally move more rapidly than grand jury investigations.
Eager to showcase the importance and success of their hearings, congressmen are quicker to seek
immunity in order to ensure important witness testimony. Hence, for example, Senator
Thompson’s Committee investigating campaign finance fraud obtained immunity orders for
several nuns from the Hsi Lai Buddhist Temple to testify about the role of Vice President Gore,
Maria Hsia, and other Democratic Party fundraisers in connection with a March 1996 political
event at the temple. Under Kastigar v. United States,'"* congressional immunity can serve to

taint a resulting criminal prosecution,'"’

B. Post Indictment Strategies
1. Motions To Dismiss
a. Lack Of Fair Notice
Contributors have been indicted for violating 18 U.S.C. § 1001 on the theory that the

contributor "caused" the campaign treasurers to make false statements. Under this theory, had

the campaign treasurers known that the defendant had reimbursed others, the campaign treasurers

13 18 U.S.C. § 6005.
406 US. 441 (1972).
'3 United States v. North, 910 F 2d 843, 852 (D.C. Cir. 1990), and modified, reh’g denied,

in part, en banc, 920 F.2d 940 (D.C. Cir. 1990) (Oliver North’s congressional testlmony tainted
prosecution).
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would have listed the defendant as the contributor on the FEC report. This argument assumes
that a violation of § 1001 can be predicated on the campaign treasurers’ knowledge of their
reporting obligations under FEC regulations, rather than the defendant’s knowledge of the
treasurers' obligations. Imposing felony penalties on a contributor-defendant under this legal
theory could be viewed as unconstitutional, as FEC regulations fail to provide adequate notice to
an ordinary person that making contributions through a conduit violates § 1001.*'

This "lack of notice" argument finds support in other areas of criminal law in which
felonies are based on violations of complicated underlying regulatory schemes. In United States
v. Weitzenhoff,'"’ the managers of a sewage treatment plant were convicted of violating the Clean
Water Act by permitting the discharge of waste into the ocean.!® On appeal, the defendants
argued, inter alia, that their convictions were based upon the interpretation of the provisions of a
permit issued in the context of EPA regulations. The terminology of the regulator was so vague
as to fail to provide notice of what acts constituted criminal conduct. The Ninth Circuit rejected
this argument but did so on the grounds that the defendants, as managers of a sewage plant, "were
knowledgeable in the wastewater field and can be expected to have understood what the permit

meant." 119

He Under Ninth Circuit law, “[a] defendant is deemed to have fair notice of an offense if a

reasonable person of ordinary intelligence would understand that his or her conduct is prohibited
by the law in question.” United States v. Fitzgerald, 882 F.2d 397, 398 (9th Cir. 1989) (emphasis
added).

"7 35F3d 1275 (9th Cir. 1994),

" Id at 1281

9 Id at 1289.
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In contrast to the Weitzenhoff defendants, the average contributor to a federal campaign
cannot be said to have had fair notice that his or her conduct violated § 1001. As a lay person,
the contributor cannot be held to have the specialized knowledge of campaign treasurers about
FEC reporting requirements or the definition of "contributors." Nor can the average contributor
be assumed to have had notice that, by making contributions through others, he or she caused
campaign treasurers to make false statements on reports required under FEC regulations. In
short, most contributors lack the level of sophistication and specialized knowledge of the law that
the Weitzenhoff court found necessary to impose felony criminal liability in an analogous
context. '

This argument proved persuasive in United States v. Hsia."*' As noted above, the
indictment in Hsia alleged that the defendant violated 18 U.S.C. § 1001 by causing false
statements to be made on campaign contribution reports. The alleged false statements were the
names of people who were falsely identified as contributors when the true contributor was

122

someone else. * Hsia argued that the reports did not require or claim that the listed contributor

be the true contributor. The district court agreed.'” The district court also concluded that FECA

120 One might attempt to distinguish Weitzenhoff because environmental laws are public

welfare statutes requiring proof, at most of general intent, not specific intent. But as with criminal
environmental statutes, in the election law area the government has attempted to premise a
criminal conviction on knowledge of regulations that would only be known by a specialist who
works in the field. This is the key to the Weitzenhoff case, and the reason why it supports a fair
notice defense.

1 Supran.66,24 F. Supp.2d 33.
2 Id at 8.

2 Id at 60-61. As the district court noted, whether literal truth is a grounds for dismissal of
an indictment or a defense at trial is an open question. See, e.g., United States v. Milton, 8 F.3d
39, 45 (D.C. Cir. 1993), cert. denied, 513 U.S. 919 (1994) (literal truth is a defense to a charge of
violating 18 U.8.C. § 1001); but see United States v. Vesaas, 586 F.2d 101, 104 (8th Cir. 1978)

(when the statement is facially true, an indictment under § 1001 fails to state an offense).
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imposed reporting requirements only on campaign treasurers, not on contributors. The treasurers
were obligated to use only their best efforts to prepare truthful disclosure reports. In most
instances in which contributions flow into a campaign through conduits, the treasurer would not
be aware that the information was false. In such cases, the treasurer’s statements on the report
would be true statements of the treasurer’s belief that the conduits were the true contributors. '**
In an earlier opinion in the Hsia case, the district court had ruled that "when a contributor is
charged as an aider and abettor in the federal election context for causing an intermediary to make
a false statement to the FEC, the prosecution must prove that the “defendant knew of the
[political party] treasurers’ reporting obligations, that [she] attempted to frustrate those
obligations, and that {she] knew [her] conduct was unlawful.”'** Expanding on this decision in its
later opinion, the district court called upon courts to protect unknowing individuals from being
charged with technical election law violations — prosecutions that might impinge on First
Amendment protections:

[W1hen general criminal statutes are used in an attempt to impose

criminal liability in an area that is both First Amendment-sensitive

and highly technical and complex, the Court must guard against the

risk that legitimate and protected speech will be chilled, that a

prosecutorial net thrown broadly will ensnare the innocent for

unknowing or technical violations and will engender fear among

those seeking to engage in legitimate protected First Amendment
activity.'

124 United States v. Hsia, supra n.66, 24 F. Supp.2d at 59-60.

125 United States v. Hsia, 24 F. Supp.2d 14, 21 (D.D.C. 1998) (internal citations and
quotations omitted).

%6 United States v. Hsia, supra n.66, 24 F. Supp.2d at 62. On December 31, 1998, the same
district court dismissed similar false statement charges on the same grounds against Pauline
Kanchanlak, an individual indicted for election fraud. The Washington Post, January 1, 1999,
page A20 (also noting that the government has appealed Judge Friedman’s decision in Hsia).
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A slight variation of this analysis was used by the district court in the Central District of
California to dismiss the government’s § 1001 prosecution in an election fraud case. In Unifed

States v. Nichols,'”

the CEO and Special Affairs Director of an Indian tribe were indicted for
using tribal funds to pay work-related “advances” or “bonuses” to reimburse campaign
contributions, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1001 and 2(b), and 2 U.S.C. §§ 441(f) and 437g(d).
The defendants moved to dismiss the felony counts under Fed. R. Crim. P. 12(b)(2) for failure to
state a federal offense. They argued that because FECA does not define the term “contributor,”
the contributor could reasonably be construed to be the check-writer, and therefore the campaign
treasurers’ reports were literally true. The court rejected this argument, holding that the most
reasonable way to construe the term “contributor” is to mean the source of the funds.
Nevertheless, the court in Nichols held that, “given the ambiguity surrounding the definition of
‘contributor,’” the government would presumably need to prove that Defendants had not only read
the regulations, but had interpreted them in the identical fashion as the Court does today.”
Defendants’ interpretation was “far from unreasonable.” Given the ambiguity of the term
“contributor,” the complexity of the statute, and the rule of lenity, the court held that the felony
counts must be dismissed.'”® With decisions like those in Nichols, Hsia, and Trie, the Justice
Department will be forced either to reevaluate its decision to charge violations of § 1001, or to

press aggressively on appeal to reverse these district court decisions. Counsel practicing in this

area will need to follow developments in this area closely.

27 Supran.66, Case No. CR 98-642-ABC.
128 Id., slip op. at 9-10.
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b. Not Duly Constituted Body

To obtain a conviction under 18 U.S.C. § 1001, a false statement must have been made to
a federal department or agency that has the power to exercise authority in a particular situation.'”
Counsel may wish to argue that the FEC, as it was constituted at the time the false reports were
submitted, did not have such power.

In FEC v. NRA Political Victory Fund,"*® the court ruled that the FEC lacked authority to
bring enforcement actions for violations of FECA, because its membership included members of
Congress. This was a clear violation of separation of powers:

Congress exceeded its legislative authority when it placed

its agents . . . on the independent Commission as nonvoting ex
officio members !

Depending upon when the false reports were filed, this defect can arguably vitiate the
FEC's jurisdiction over enforcing compliance concerning FECA."? If the FEC lacks jurisdiction,
the false statements can have had absolutely no impact on its actions or decisions.

There is also an argument that the FEC's inclusion of members of Congress, even if ex
officio, taints its status as an agency or department of the Executive Branch. As such, § 1001,

which does not apply to certain matters under the jurisdiction of the legislative branch, cannot be

' United States v. Facchini, 874 F.2d 638, 641 (9th Cir. 1989) (en banc).
%% 6F.3d 821, 822 (D.C. Cir. 1993), cert. denied, 513 U.S. 588 (1994).
131 Id

2 Inresponse to the decision in NRA Political Victory Fund, the FEC voted on October 26,
1993, to reconstitute itself to exclude the ex officio members from all proceedings. FEC v. Legi-
Tech, Inc., 75 F.3d 704, 706 (D.C. Cir, 1996). Thereafter, the FEC reviewed and reaffirmed
many of the decisions made by the improperly constituted body. Depending upon the particular
circumstances of your case, the argument may still be applicable.
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charged.'® In the mid-1990s, these arguments were made in the Central District of California in
two cases involving fundraisers for Congressman Jay Kim, and were rejected in unpublished
opinions.”** However, since jurisdiction is an element of the crime of filing a false statement, one
might argue that this is a matter for the jury, not the judge, to decide.”® Such an approach is
appealing when the jury appears favorably disposed to acquit.

c. FECA Preemption

A motion to dismiss a felony prosecution can be based upon a preemption argument.
Since FECA is the genesis of most election law criminal cases, it arguably preempts a felony
charge under Title 18. In United States v. Richardson,"° a similar argument prevailed when the
Ninth Circuit held that the general false statement statute'’ is limited by the statute applicable to
federal employees’' compensation affidavits.'**

However, the preemption argument is unlikely to succeed anywhere outside the Ninth

Circuit. Despite supportive language found in other cases,’ numerous cases in other circuits

B3 Hubbardv. United States, 514 U.S. 695 (1995) (false statements must be made to
department or agency of Executive branch; statements made in bankruptcy court not covered by
18 U.S.C. § 1001).

124 Several cases subsequent to Hubbard and NRA Political Victory Fund have specifically
upheld the validity of prosecutions of false statements violations contained in reports submitted to
the FEC, despite the arguments advanced above, United States v. Crop Growers Corp., 954 F.
Supp. 335, 354 (D.D.C. 1997); United States v. Oakar, 924 F. Supp. 232, 239 (D.D.C. 1996),
rev. in part on other grounds, 111 F.3d 146 (D.C. Cir. 1997); United States v. Rostenkowski,
1996 WI. 342110 at 5 (D.D.C. March 12, 1996) (unpublished).

B See, e.g., United States v. Gaudin, 515 U.S. 506 (1995).
136 8F.3d 15, 16 (9th Cir. 1993).

BT 18U.S.C. § 1001,

B¢ Id §1920.

139 See, e.g., United States v. Olinger, 759 F.2d 1293, 1302 (7th Cir.), cert. denied, 474 U S.
839 (1985).
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have rejected the notion that Title 2 limits, in any way, a prosecutor's discretion to indict
defendants under the general criminal provisions of Title 18.'*° In addition, although preemption
was not specifically discussed, various Ninth Circuit decisions have examined indictments under
18 U.S.C. § 1001 for campaign election violations, thus implicitly validating this charging
practice.™!

Most recently, this issue was addressed by the District Court for the District of Columbia
in the Hsia case. There the defendant expanded and modified the preemption argument by
combining it with a First Amendment claim. Ms. Hsia contended that "because FECA operates in
areas protected by the First Amendment and because Congress so carefully crafted a
comprehensive enforcement scheme to assure that it does not violate the Constitution, FECA
necessarily pro tanto displaces the more general conspiracy and false statements statutes."'*> This
argument drew almost exclusively on the decision ten years ago by the D.C. Circuit in Galliano v.
United States Postal Service.'* In Galliano, the circuit reversed an action taken by the United
States Postal Service in intercepting contributions to a PAC on the grounds that the PACs

representations were in compliance with FECA and "if FECA requirements are met, than as we

W See, e.g., United States v. Curran, 20 F.3d 560, 566 (3d Cir. 1994) (holding that there is
no express intent in FECA to preempt Title 18); United States v. Hopkins, 916 F.2d 207, 218 (5th
Cir. 1990) (holding that prosecutor has discretion to choose between misdemeanor FECA statute
and Title 18); United States v. Trie, supran.73, 23 F. Supp.2d at 61-62 (failure to distinguish
between hard and soft money contributions in grand jury instructions does not warrant dismissal
of indictment); United States v. Oakar, 924 F. Supp. 232, 245 (D.D.C. 1996), rev’d in part on
other grounds, 111 F.3d 146 (9th Cir. 1997) (as long as prosecutor does not discriminate against
a class of defendants, he or she can choose between FECA on one hand or 18 U.S.C. §§ 371 and
1001 on the other).

4 See, e.g., Goland v. United States, 903 F.2d 1247 (9th Cir. 1990).
W2 United States v. Hsia, supra n.66, 24 F. Supp.2d at 42.

14 836 F.2d 1362 (D.C. Cir. 1988).
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comprehend that legislation, no further constraints . . . may be imposed by other governmental
authorities."***

The district court rejected Hsia's claim by distinguié.hing her case from Galliano on several
grounds. First, unlike in Galliano, where the administrative authority of the Postal Service could
not displace the FEC in enforcing FECA, Hsia was a criminal case: the Attorney General may
bring charges under the general criminal statutes over which the FEC had no jurisdiction. Second,
the Postal Service took action in Galliano in the absence of any hearing or adjudicative
proceeding. Even the FEC is required to conduct congciliation before filing civil enforcement
proceedings. In contrast to the Postal Service, in a criminal case the defendant has the right to a
full jury trial. Third, the findings of the Postal Service were inconsistent with the provisions of
FECA. In a criminal case, the Attorney General bases the more general criminal charges on
violations of FECA and thus, is entirely consistent with FECA provisions. Fourth, the district
court found nothing in the statutes or the legislative history of FECA to suggest that Congress

intended the criminal provisions of the act to replace the general criminal statutes.'*’
d. Other Potential Legal Issues
Several other issues may warrant consideration, based upon the particular facts of a given
case. These issues include:

a. The applicability and effect of the "express advocacy" doctrine to
the facts of a particular case.'**

W Id at 1370,

143 Uhnited States v. Hsia, supra n.66, 24 F. Supp.2d at 38-44.

146 FECv. National Organization for Women, Inc., 713 E. Supp. 428 (D.D.C. 1989) (using
funds to mail letters that criticized certain politicians for holding views contrary to those espoused

by NOW was not a violation of the FECA prohibition against making corporate contributions, as
(Continued...}
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b. Whether a prosecution would implicate one’s First Amendment
right of association? Such a First Amendment attack might arise if the
questionable political activity was conducted through an organization such as the
NAACP, rather than by individuals.

c. Whether the actual contributors would be considered a conduit or
intermediary and thus be required to file conduit reports? Under 11 CF.R. §
110.6(c), an intermediary or conduit for a contribution (arguably the actual
contributor who uses a reimbursed employee to make a contribution) must file
reports with the FEC which disclose the original source of the contribution. Many
do not file such a report. Counsel should be aware that the person qualifies for
exemption from this requirement if he or she was expressly authorized and
occupied a significant position in the campaigns' organizations.'*’ In the
appropriate case, the defense may wish to file a motion in limine to preclude a
government expert for testifying that intermediaries/conduits have a filing
requirement, and that such is relevant to a criminal proceeding.

d. What 1s the “best efforts” responsibility of a campaign treasurer
with respect to examining contributions for illegality? What are the legal
consequences for his or her failure to do s0?'** The “best efforts” issue might also
be the underpinning for a jury instruction. Defense counsel might be able to show
that the defendant relied on a campaign treasurer’s assurance that the subject
contribution was legal. Such reliance might negate the specific intent requirement.

€. What is the responsibility of a campaign treasurer to notify a
potential conduit, as defined by 11 C.F.R. § 110.6(b)(2), of the obligation to file
conduit reports? For example, if a contributor understands that the campaign has
been notifying conduit contributors, but does not notify him, there may be a viable
argument as to lack of fair notice.

f. Is a defendant entitled to a jury instruction on "lesser included
offenses?" In general, this requires that both offenses have common elements and
that no element of the lesser offense be different than those in the more severe
offense. Section 1001 felony charges, for example, generally derive from
underlying FECA violations. Accordingly, a lesser included offense instruction
might be appropriate.

(...Continued)
NOW was engaged in “issue advocacy” rather than “express advocacy” of a specific candidate).
See Chapter 22, “Issue Advocacy.”
W 11 CFR §110.6(b)(2)Q)NE).

148 Id §103.3(b).
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g Statute of limitations; Unlike the five year limitations
period which applies to § 1001 and most Title 18 offenses, FECA has a
three year statute of limitations."*’

C. Potential Defenses

Each case will suggest its own, fact-specific defenses. The following should be carefully

considered,

1. Lack Of Requisite Intent

An accused's best defense, factually and legally, may be a lack of "willfulness." The
leading case dealing with the prosecution of FECA violations under 18 U.S.C. § 1001, the false
statement statute, is United States v. Curran."*® Curran was the CEQ of a company who asked
his employees to contribute to federal candidates. Curran then reimbursed the employees for
these contributions. He was charged with violating 18 U.S.C. §§ 2(b) and 1001. Curran did not
directly make false statements to the government. Rather, he was convicted because he furnished
the contribution information to an intermediary who then furnished it to a federal agency."*’

On appeal, the Third Circuit in Curran vacated the judgment of the district court. The
district court’s jury instruction was inadequate "in that it failed to state that the government had
the burden of proving that defendant knew of the campaign treasurer's obligation to submit
contribution reports to the Federal Election Commission.”'*> The appellate court explained that

because the construction of "willfulness" required for a charge under § 2(b) linked with § 1001 in

¥ 2U.8.C. §455(a).
9 20F.3d 560 (3d Cir. 1994).

131 The intermediary need not have the requisite mens rea in order to hold the contributor
liable. Curran, 20 F.3d at 567.

52 Id at 570.

35



a FECA case was an issue of first impression for federal courts, it would look to case law on
analogous statutes. Specifically, the Third Circuit based its decision on the willfulness standard
set forth in Ratzlaf v United States.'™

Under Ratzlaf, the Curran court explained, contributors should not be saddled with the
same duties applicable to campaign treasurers. In order to hold a contributor liable under Title
18, the contributor must have been aware of the campaign finance laws: "In sum, the government
has the burden of proving that the defendant was aware that the campaign treasurers were bound
by the law to accurately report the source of the contributions to the Commission.""**
The Curran court noted that there are several similarities between the currency reporting

statute examined in Ratzlaf and the provisions of FECA at issue in Curran:

. The disclosure obligations under FECA are similar to those under the currency
reporting statute examined in Ratzlaf,

. The underlying conduct is not "obviously 'evil' or inherently 'bad"; and
155

. In both cases, the conduct was made illegal by a regulatory statute.

These same factors strongly support application of the heightened willfulness standard in FECA
cases. U.S. Attorney Offices in the Third Circuit, as well as other circuits, have also accepted

similar jury instructions in this context, and they are therefore increasingly used."

133510 U.S. 135 (1994) (analyzing "willfulness" under the money laundering statute

regarding structured cash transactions).
154 Curran, 20 F.3d at 570.
% Id at 569.

B8 See, e.g., United States v. Seokuk Ma, No. CR 96-1141(B)-R. (C.D. Cal. 1996).
Although the Ninth Circuit has refused to require Ratzlaf intent for fraud offenses, see, e.g.,
United States v. English, 92 F.3d 909, 914 (9th Cir. 1996) (securities fraud), its reasons for not
doing so seem inapplicable to violations of FECA. In English, the Court relied upon (1) the
“inherently nefarious” nature of fraud and (2) the absence of “a complicated statute that could

(Continued...)
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2, Good Faith

The "good faith defense" has historically been applied in the criminal tax arena.””’ A
proposed jury instruction on this defense is set forth in Devitt, Blackmar & O'Malley, Fed. Jury
Practice & Instructions - Criminal (4th Ed.) § 37.16. Under this defense, a good faith, but
erroneous, belief that a defendant's actions were legal (or not illegal) is a complete defense to the
charge. There is no requirement of full disclosure, reliance or even objective reasonableness.

The Ninth Circuit, however, has rejected this defense in the context of false statement
claims (even when they relate to tax matters).”*® In addition, the Ninth Circuit has long held that
"a defendant is not entitled to a separate good faith instruction when the court adequately
instructs on specific intent.""*® Thus, in the Ninth Circuit if the court gives a Curran instruction
regarding specific intent, it may refuse to give a separate "good faith defense” instruction. Asa
backup, defense counsel might be able to convince a court to include some or all of a “good faith”

instruction within in the specific intent instruction.

(...Continued)
trap the unwary innocent.” Both of these factors cut in favor of applying Ratzlaf intent standards
to a regulatory offense involving campaign contributions.

7 Cheek v. United States, 498 U.S. 192, 202-204 (1991) (defendant's belief, even if not
objectively reasonable, that he was not violating the law is a defense to willful tax violation).

18 United States v. Lorenzo, 995 F.2d 1448 (9th Cir.), cert. denied, 510 U.S. 881 (1993)
(holding that defendant is not entitled to "good faith" instruction as defense to false statement
violation).

19 Lorenzo, at 1455 (citing United States v. Rushton, 963 F.2d 272, 274 (9th Cir. 1992), and
United States v. Bonanno, 852 F.2d 434, 440 (9th Cir. 1988)), cert. denied 488 U.S. 1016
(1989); United States v. Perry, 1998 U.S. App. LEXIS 32511, at *9 (2nd Cir. Dec. 23, 1998)
(unpublished); United States v. Christopher, 142 F.3d 46, 55 (1st Cir. 1998); United States v.
Manges, 110 F.3d 1162, 1177 (5th Cir. 1997).
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3. No False Statement

To obtain a conviction, the government must prove that a false statement was made to the
FEC. One defense is that no false statements were made. This defense may rest on the limited
types of statements that can constitute a § 1001 violation and the problems inherent in proving
criminal liability under 18 U.S.C. § 2.

Section 1001 prohibits two types of conduct - making a false representation and
concealing a material fact.'"® In a typical case, neither the contributor nor his or her reimbursees
actually made statements to the FEC. The statements to the FEC were made by the campaign
treasurers. Neither the contributor nor his or her reimbursees were required to disclose
information to the FEC.'®" This duty was imposed upon the campaign treasurers. As a result,
neither the true contributor nor his or her conduits can be guilty of violating § 1001 by concealing
material facts.® The government must therefore premise such an accused's criminal liability on
18U.S.C. §2.

Under § 2, a person is crininally liable for (a) aiding and abetting in an offense, or (b)
causing someone else to commit an offense. Under § 2(a), a conviction for aiding and abetting an

offense requires proof that someone else actually committed the crime.'® Assuming that none of

10 United States v. Mayberry, 913 F.2d 791, 722, n.7 (9th Cir. 1990).

161 United States v. Curran, 20 F 3d at 570. If an individual gathered the contributions and
forwarded them to the campaigns, he/she may have had reporting obligations as a conduit or
intermediary, unless he or she can show that he or she was expressly authorized to engage in
fundraising and occupied a significant position in the campaign organization. 11 CF.R.

§ 110.6(b)2)(0)(E).

162 Curran, 20 ¥ .3d at 567, see also United States v. Varbel, 780 F.2d 758, 762 (9th Cir.
1986) (where defendants had no duty to disclose, criminal liability based upon a theory of
concealment is improper).

83 United States v. Causey, 835 F.2d 1289, 1291 (9th Cir. 1987).
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the campaign treasurers were aware of the true source of the money, this leaves the government
with the sole option of proceeding under a theory that the defendant "caused" the campaign
treasurers to violate 18 U.S.C. § 1001.

Under § 2(b), a defendant cannot have "caused" a violation of § 1001 if the statements

%4 Key to this defense is the actual wording

made by the campaign treasurers were literally true.
on the reports signed and filed by the campaign treasurers. For example, in the 1992 federal
election campaigns, the Report of Receipts and Disbursements filed with the FEC required the
campaign treasurers to identify the "contributor" and certify the accuracy of the report based upon
the campaign treasurers' "knowledge and belief.” One might argue that the reimbursee literally is

the “contributor” and to the campaign treasurer’s “knowledge and belief,” the report is accurate.

a. The Reimbursee Listed On The Report Was The
“Contributor”

The report submitted to the FEC requires the campaign treasurer to list "[t]he
identification (as defined at 11 C.F.R. § 100.12) of each contributor and the aggregate year-to-
date total for such contributor . . ."'®® "Contributor" is not deﬁped under FECA, but
"contribution” is deﬁn;ad as "[a] gift . . . or deposit of money or anything of value made by any

person for the purpose of influencing any election for Federal office."'*® Under this definition, the

1% United States v. Milton, 8 F.3d 39, 45 (D.C. Cir. 1993) (literal truth is a defense to a §
1001 violation); cf. Boston v. United States, 409 U.S. 352 (1973). This is a matter which must be
decided by a jury. See United States v. Hopkins, 916 F.2d 207 (6th Cir. 1990); see also United
States v. Crop Growers Corp., 954 F. Supp. 335, 354 (D.D.C. 1997) (holding that whether FEC
reports correctly identified the persons who wrote the checks were literally true is a question for
the jury to resolve).

¥ 11 C.FR. § 104.3(a)(4) (emphasis added).
166 4§ 100.7(a)(1).
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person who actually writes the check to the campaign (i.e. the reimbursee) is literally the person
who "made" the contribution,

FECA regulations expressly draw a distinction between a "contributor," i.e. a reimbursee,
and a "true contributor," i.e. the true source of the money. In the very context of explaining what
constitutes a prohibited contribution in the name of another, 11 C.F.R. § 110.4(b)(2)(i) provides:

Giving rhoney or anything of value, all or part of which was
provided fo the contribufor by another person (the true
contributor) without disclosing the source of money or the thing of

value to the recipient candidate or committee at the time the
contribution is made. . . . (Emphasis added).

FECA regulations thus define "contributor” as the person who directly gives the money to
the campaign and the person who originally provides the funds as the "true contributor" or
"source."'” Since the treasurers' reports accurately listed the "contributors” (as opposed to the
true contributors"), one can argue that there were no false statements.

b. The Representations Made By The Campaign
Treasurers Were True

The Report of Receipts and Disbursements signed by the treasurer and filed with the FEC
only requires the treasurer to certify "that I have examined this Report and fo the best of my

knowledge and belief it is true, correct and complete."'®® The treasurer is not required to attest
3 p ‘ q

‘7 The language used by the FEC in some of its Advisory Opinions further clouds the issue

as to who is the contributor (which may somewhat undermine this “true statement” defense, but
further bolsters the “lack of notice” defense, infra). In AO 1995-19, the FEC states that the
campaign treasurer must use “best efforts” to determine the legality of the questionable
contribution by contacting “the contributor” (i.e., the reimbursee), and mandates disbursement of
funds to charity if the “original contributor” (i.e., the “true contributor” under 11 C.F.R.

§ 110.4(b)(2)(1)) cannot be identified. In AO 1996-5, the FEC uses the term “actual contributor”
in the heading to refer to the person who was the source of the contribution (i.e., reimburser), but
uses “contributor” in the body to refer to the source.

' Emphasis added. There is an obligation on campaign treasurers to examine “all
contributions received for evidence of illegality and for ascertaining whether contributions
received, when aggregated with other contributions from the same contributor, exceed the

(Continued...)
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under penalty of perjury to the accuracy of the report. The treasurer is not required to attest even
that the report is frue. A treasurer is required to attest only that to the best of his or her
"knowledge and belief," the report is accurate.

A campaign treasurer’s statements may be literally true for two reasons. First, regardless
of the source of the funds for the contributions, the "contributor" can be argued to be the person
who made out the check to the campaign. Thus, the report listing the reimbursees as the
"contributors" is Iitérally correct. Second, even assuming for the sake of argument that the
"contributor" is the original source of the funds, the campaign treasurer who is unaware of a
conduit arrangement and who signs the report is not making any false statement. To the "best of
[his or her] knowledge and belief," the report is true.

4. Lack Of Materiality

An essential element in any false statement count is that the defendant caused false or
fraudulent statements to be filed with the FEC that were material to the FEC's activities or
decisions. A statement is considered material if it “has a natural tendency to influence the
decisions of the agency.”'® Given that one of the functions of the FEC is to monitor and enforce
compliance with FECA, a trial judge might well find materiality, almost as a matter of law.

170

However, materiality is a question of fact for the jury.”™ Therefore, even if the jury believes that

(...Continued) '
contribution limitations. . . .” 11 CF.R. § 103.3(b). However, it can be argued that this duty is
separate and apart from the certification requirements and that a failure on the treasurers’ parts to
properly examine contributions does not make the certifications invalid or untrue.

199 Kungysv. United States, 485 U.S. 759, 772 (1988); see also Devitt, Blackmar, Jury
Practice and Instructions (1998 Supplement), § 27A.06.

170 United States v. Gaudin, 515, U.S. 506 (1995) (holding that a defendant has the right to
have a jury determine guilt beyond a reasonable doubt of every element of the crime).
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a defendant knew of the campaign treasurers' obligations, it still might hang or acquit if convinced
that conduit contributions, or other violations of FECA, had no real impact on the FEC.

8. “No Causation” Defense

As noted previously, the government often charges a § 1001 in combination with 18
U.S.C. § 2(b}, which imposes penalties for "wilfully caus{ing] an act to be done which if
performed by [the defendant] would be an offense against the United States. . . ." Courts have
upheld this as a proper charge where the campaign treasurers were unaware that they were
making false statements by listing the "reimbursees" as the contributors.'”' However, if the
campaign treasurer knew that the reimbursees were not the true source of the contributions, then
the accused could not have been the "cause" of the filing of the false statements. Rather, the
cause was the campaign treasurers' deliberate decision to file the false statements anyway.

This defense is fact specific. Generally, it will be difficult to mount. First, there may be no
factual basis for arguing that the campaign treasurer knew or even suspected that the reimbursees
were not the true source of the contributions. Secondly, the Title 18 causation jury instruction
may require simply that the government prove that a defendant brought about a criminal act of
another through his or her own conduct by putting into motion or assisting in the illegal
enterprise.'™* The jury instruction for § 2(b) (causing an act to be done) generally is the same as

for § 2(a) (aiding and abetting).'” Finally, 18 U.S.C. § 2(a) punishes aiding, abetting, counseling,

17 United States v. Curran, supran.161.

"2 United States v. Cawsey, 835 F.2d 1289, 1292 (9th Cir. 1987).
17 See Devitt, Blackmar, Federal Jury Practice and Instructions (4th ed. 1992) §18.01.
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commanding, inducing or procuring the commission of a crime. As such, a treasurer's knowing
participation arguably would not preclude a contributor's conviction under § 2(a).

A variation on this "no causation” defense is viable if the accused did not participate,
directly or indirectly, in making "statements" to a campaign treasurer. For example, in the Hsia
case, the defendant solicited money from certain unnamed contributors, and provided that money
to straw donors who wrote checks out in particular amounts, leaving the payee blank. Along with
others acting at her direction, the defendant filled in the name of the political candidate and
forwarded the check to the appropriate campaign committee.'™® The district court found that
such activities did not constitute taking any affirmative action with regard to the campaign
treasurers' reporting requirements. The checks were ruled not to be false statements -- "the
signature on the check is not an indication of anything more than that the signatory signed the
check; it says nothing about whose money is being conveyed by the check that is presented.”'”
Additionally, neither Ms. Hsia nor any of her co-participants ever provided any information to a

176 Arguably, the government could overcome this hurdle if a

campaign committee or treasurer.
particular defendant provided any information to a campaign committee such as address, date of
contribution, or employer, as such information also must be disclosed in the reports filed with the
FEC. There could still, however, be room for a literal truth defense even if the defendant

provided this type of information to the campaign committee. This may depend upon the precise

question posed. For example, information requested by the campaign as to the "address of the

17 United States v. Hsia, supra n.66, 24 F. Supp.2d at 61 n.31.
" Id at62.
¢ Id at62.
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contributor" is arguably different from asking for the addresses of a list of individuals whose
names appeared on certain checks.

As the reader can see from these examples, defense counsel must investigate and
scrutinize the facts of the case to see what communications took place between the campaign and
the defendant. Counsel should then see where the regulations create holes in the prosecution
theory.

6. Jury Nullification: “Justice” vs. “Letter Of The Law”

Polling data indicates that more than 75 percent of people surveyed said that they would
do what they believed was right regardless of what a judge says that the law requires.'”’
Depending upon the circumstances of the case, at least some jurors might agree that a defendant's
motives were humanitarian and the defendant should not be subjected to criminal punishment.
This defense will be more likely to succeed if the defendant can be shown to have neither received
nor sought any monetary benefit from these political contributions, and if the defendant’s motive
was to évoid a greater harm.

7. Venue Issues

In a campaign finance case, venue arguably may lie in the district where the contribution
was made, where the campaign disclosure report was prepared, or where the disclosure report
was filed (in Washington, D.C., at the FEC). In United States v. Passodelis,'™ the court held that
the charge of making an illegal contribution occurred before the contribution was deposited by the

recipient, and venue therefore lay in the district where the contribution was made. If the Public

" National Law Journal, November 2, 1998, page 1, citing to a National Law Journal-

Decision Quest Juror Outlook Survey.

1% 615 F.2d 975, 977 (3d Cir. 1979).
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Integrity Section is prosecuting the case, the prosecutor, may purposely charge a statute for which
venue lies in Washington, such as § 1001, based on the filing of the report at the FEC.

V. SENTENCING

The Sentencing Reform Act of 1984, effective November 1, 1987, created binding
guidelines circumscribing a judge's discretion in sentencing.'” The Guidelines seek to define
* which factors are relevant to sentencing, and how much weight should be given to each factor.
The Guidelines then mention other factors which permit a judge to sentence outside of the
applicable Guideline range.

The U.S. Sentencing Commission adopted a separate set of Guidelines for sentencing
corporate defendants.'® The corporate Guidelines set forth factors for determining fines and
terms of probation.

The Sentencing Guidelines were intended not only to reduce a judge’s discretion in
sentencing, but also to reduce the power of a prosecutor to influence the sentence through
charging decisions. In the area of election law, the Guidelines are less clear cut. Consequently,
they leave more room for prosecutors, defense counsel, and judges to argue for a wider range of
sentencing options.

A, Sentencing Of Individuals In FECA Cases
1. Statutory Provisions

The statutory maximum sentence for one count of violating a FECA misdemeanor statute

is imprisonment of up to one year and a fine not to exceed $100,000.""" By contrast, the statutory

17 See United States Sentencing Guidelines, 18 U.S.C. §§ 3551 et. seq. (hereafter "USSG"
or "Guidelines").

'8 USSG, Ch. 8.

65



maximum sentence for one count of violating a felony false statement statute'* is five years

imprisonment and a $250,000 fine. Likewise, five years is the maximum sentence for causing a §
1001 false statement to be made to the FEC'™ or conspiring to make such a false statement.'**

In most cases, prosecutors charge multiple counts of a statutory violation. The statutory
maximum for each count is added together to determine the total statutory maximum. For
example, a conviction on eight counts of violating FECA carries an eight year statutory maximum.

2. Offense Conduct Guidelines

Under the Guidelines, the statutory maximums often become irrelevant. The Guidelines
instruct judges to consider all relevant conduct, whether or not charged.'” Because all relevant
conduct is to be cons_idered, for purposes of determining the Guideline prison sentence it is
generally irrelevant whether a prosecutor charges one count of a $5,000 illegal foreign
contribution or ten counts totaling $50,000 in illegal foreign contributions; the judge will consider
all $50,000.

The Sentencing Commission has not yet provided a specific Guideline for FECA

offenses.’*® The Guidelines mandate that where no express provision covers a specific

(...Continued)
Bl 2U.S.C. §455(a).

82 18 U.S.C. § 1001 (false statement to a government agency).
18 Id § 2(b).

8 Id §371,

18 USSG § 1B1.3.

186 See id., App. A.
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misdemeanor, the district court must look to "the most analogous guidetine.""*” Section 2X5.1
expressly provides:

If the offense is a felony or Class A misdemeanor for which no
guideline expressly has been promulgated, apply the most
analogous offense guideline. If there is not a sufficiently analogous
guideline, the provisions of 18 U.S.C. Section 3553(b) shall
control, except that any guidelines and policy statements that can be
applied meaningfully in the absence of a Chapter Two offense
guideline shall remain applicable.'®®

As the Commentary to § 2X5.1 makes explicit:

Many offenses, especially assimilative crimes, are not listed in the
Statutory Index or in any of the lists of Statutory Provisions that
follow each offense guideline. Nonetheless, the specific guidelines
that have been promulgated cover the type of criminal behavior that
most such offenses proscribe. The court is required to determine if
there is a sufficiently analogous offense guideline, and, if so, to
apply the guideline that is most analogous."”

The requirement of applying the most analogous guideline is confirmed again in Appendix
A to the USSG. Appendix A correlates specific statutes with the applicable offense guidelines.
The introduction to Appendix A states, in relevant part, "[f]or those offenses not listed in this
index, the most analogous guideline is to be applied."”™ The Fifth Circuit has recently affirmed

the district court's obligation to impose sentences under the most analogous guidelines.'”’

18 Id §2X5.1.

18 Jd (emphasis added). Prior to 1988, § 2X5.1 existed as only a policy statement. With
Amendment 43, Appendix C, § 2X5.1 was made a binding guideline.

18 Id §2X5.1, Background (emphasis added).
190 Id., Appendix A, Introduction.

2l United States v. Armstead, 114 F.3d 504, 507 (5th Cir. 1997) (in determining the
appropriate guideline for violation of a firearms offense not specifically identified in the sentencing
guidelines, district court must apply guidelines relating to other firearm offenses as most
analogous under § 2X5.1). Even if no analogous guideline were applicable, the court must “have
due regard for the relationship of the sentence imposed to sentences prescribed by guidelines

(Continued...)
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Several guidelines could be used as an analogy for purposes of sentencing a FECA
misdemeanor. The most analogous sections appear to be § 2C1.7 (offenses involving the
deprivation of the intangible right to the honest services of government officials or involving
interference with governmental functions) and § 2F1.1 (offenses involving fraud or deceit).
Conduit contribution violations could be analogized to these and other guideline sections:

a. Section 2C1.7 (Fraud Involving Honest Services Of
Public Officials)

This guideline applies to schemes where there is a non-pecuniary loss.'”> The Public
Integrity Section has stated that for some forms of election fraud, such as fraud to deprive another
- of the intangible right of honest services, the applicable guideline is § 2C1.7."” In a number of
corporate contribution cases, prosecutors have followed the Section’s position and incorporated §
2C1.7 in plea agreements as the applicable section. Protecting the "intangible right" to good
government seems to be what the campaign laws address. As such, § 2C1.7 appears to be the
most analogous guideline. But it is not necessarily the most favorable for the defendant, since the
base level of 10 is higher than under §§ 2F1.1 or 2C1.2.

b. Section 2F1.1 (False Statements)

This guideline specifically covers 18 U.S.C. § 1001, the general false statement statute
often charged on the prosecution theory that illegal contributions cause a campaign treasurer to

file a false contribution disclosure statement. The Department of Justice Public Integrity Section

(...Continued)
applicable to similar offenses and offenders.” 18 U.S.C. § 3553(b); see also USSG §§ 1B1.1 and
1B1.2.
2 18U.S.C. § 1346.

193 Federal Prosecution of Election Offenses at 133.
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takes the position that "[c]riminal violations of the principal prohibitions of FECA fall within the
fraud and deceit guideline, § 2F1.1 (base offense level 6).""* The Federal Prosecution of
Election Offenses cites no cases to support this position.”” Nor as of the time of this treatise is
there any published case ruling on the applicability of the Guidelines to FECA.

Use of § 1001 can lead to anomalous results. For instance, in the case against
Congressman Jay Kim's treasurer, United States v. Seokuk Ma," the Probation Office
recommended that § 2F1.1 be used for the § 1001 convictions, while recommending that § 2C1.7
be used for the misdemeanor 2 U.S.C. § 441 campaign contribution conviction. The result was
odd since the same underlying conduct formed the basis of the convictions under both statutes.
The government did not object.””” As the Ma case shows, until the Sentencing Commission
specifically addresses FECA offenses, the prosecutor’s charging decision probably will have a
great influence on the ultimate decision on which guideline a sentencing court applies.

c. Section 2C1.1 (Bribery And Extortion)

This guideline specifically applies to bribery and extortion offenses in violation of 18
U.S.C. §§ 201(b)(1), (2), 872 and 1951. Particularly if there is some evidence that the campaign

contributions were given as a quid pro quo for a Congressman's vote or favor, even if not charged

4 Id at 134,
153 The only case cited in the Federal prosecution of Election Offenses regarding the
conviction of an individual for an FECA misdemeanor is United States v. Goland, 959 F.2d 1449
(9th Cir. 1992), in which the defendant received a sentence of 90 days imprisonment for an FECA
misdemeanor. However, Michael Goland’s offense occurred pre-Guidelines. The Federal
Prosecution of Election Offenses cites no case in which a court imposed a sentence of
imprisonment for an FECA violation under the Guidelines.

19 Supran.156, No. CR 96-1141(B)-R.

197 Ultimately, the government moved to dismiss the § 1001 convictions, and Mr. Ma was

sentenced under § 2C1.7.
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in the indictment, the government might argue this guideline to be the most applicable. At
sentencing, relevant conduct often may be considered by a judge if proven by a mere
preponderance of the evidence. Depending on the facts, § 2C1.1 may be the analogous guideline
providing for the longest sentence. In justifying a recommendation that the judge apply § 2C1.1,
the government might argue that where two or more guideline provisions appear equally
applicable, the guideline provision that results in the greater offense leve! should be used.”® Since
a sentence computation under § 2C1.1 (base offense level of 10) is likely to be higher than under
§ 2F1.1 (base offense level of 6), counsel should recognize the importance of convincing
prosecutors, presentence officers and judges that the government’s evidence of bribery or
extortion is insufficient to trigger § 2C1.1.

d. Section 2C1.2 (Gratuity)

This Section specifically applies to 18 U.S.C. § 201(c)(1), the gratuity statute, which
penalizes the offering or giving of money or a thing of value to a public official for or because of
an official act. This statute is less serious than the bribery statute, and the Guideline sentencing
Jevels are lower. Since a campaign contribution is not a personal gift, the government might
argue that it is not analogous to a gratuity. Defense counsel might argue that this offense
guideline should not be used because the contribution was not a personal gift. Although a lenient
guideline, defense counsel must be careful before pushing for the § 2C1.2 guideline; doing so
might unnecessarily focus the government on prosecuting under § 2C1.1. As noted above, where

two or more guidelines appear equally applicable, the guideline resulting in the greatest offense

198 USSG § I1B1.1, App. Note 5.
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level is to be used.'” Both Sections 2C1.2 and 2C1.7 have base offense levels of 7, but 2C1.1 has
a base offense level of 10. Thus, depending on the facts, it may be safer to concur in the use of §
2F1.1 than in risking the application of one of the harsher § 2C subsections.

e. Voting Offenses

i. Section 2H1 (Offenses Involving Individual
Rights)

This Section covers a number of statutes involving civil rights, some of which are election-
related. Section 2H1.1 (conspiracy to interfere with civil rights; going in disguise to deprive of
rights) applies to violations of 18 U.S.C. § 241 (conspiracy against rights). This Guideline likely
applies to voter intimidation and other traditional election day offenses, but likely does not apply
to campaign finance violations. Section 2H1.4 (interference with civil rights under color of law)
covers violations of 18 U.S.C. § 242 (deprivation of rights under color of law) — the primary
federal statute punishing civil rights violations involving state action. Again, the normal case
involving solely campaign finance violations will not implicate this Guideline.

il. Section 2H21 (Obstructing An Election Or
Registration)

This Section covers some of the same statutes as § 2H1.1 (e.g., 18 U.S.C. §§ 241 and
242) but also covers other election laws such as 18 U.S.C. §§ 592 (troops at polls), 593
(interference by armed forces), 594 (intimidation of voters), 597 (expenditures to influence
voting), and 42 U.S.C. §§ 1973 and 1973]. It specifically addresses obstructing an election

through dishonest conduct, and appears targeted more to voting offenses.

1% See id.
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iii. Section 2J1.2 (Obstruction Of Justice)

This section covers offenses such as obstruction of an investigation, The Guideline
offense levels are similar to the perjury guidelines set forth under § 2J1.2. These authors do not
believe it is the most analogous guideline, and have included it only because it involves certain
false statement offenses.

3. The Concept Of “Loss”

Whichever Guideline is applied, a key issue in determining the severity of the Guideline
sentence is whether an FECA misdemeanor causes a "loss," as that term is used in the Guidelines.
The "loss" contemplated under the Guidelines is calculated on the basis of the harm to the victim
or the benefit to a defendant.”® In FECA cases, arguably there is no "harm" to a victim or
"benefit" to a defendant in the absence of any gquid pro quo agreement. The argument that an
FECA offense does not result in a "loss" was accepted in United States v. Seokuk Ma.*'

It is important to make sure that prosecutors, presentence officers, and judges do not use
form over substance in analyzing the concept of “loss.” District judges are accustomed to raising
offense levels under § 2F1.1 based upon amount of loss. Consequently, use of § 2F1.1 may
trigger judges to reason that because § 2F1.1 applies, the campaign contribution offense must
have involved a “loss.” This is faulty logic. Nevertheless, counsel must anticipate this issue.

Counsel may better be able to persuade a prosecutor not to enhance the sentence for “loss” under

§ 2C1.7 (covering intangible rights) than under § 2F1.1. Thus, even though the base offense level

200 See USSG § 2C1.1, Application Note 2; id. § 2C1.7, Application Note 3; id. § 2F1.1,
Application Notes 7 and 8. Section 2F1.1, Application note 10, provides that if loss does not
fully capture the harmfulness and seriousness of conduct, an upward departure may be warranted,
e.g., where the offense caused a loss of confidence in an important institution, such as Congress.

1 Supran.156, Case No. CR 96-1141(B).
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